
 

 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
WEDNESDAY, 7 AUGUST 2024 
 
1.00 PM 
 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL, 
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH, PE15 8NQ 

Committee Officer: Jo Goodrum  
Tel: 01354 622285 

e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
 

1   To receive apologies for absence.  
 

2   To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by 
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified  
 

3   To receive Members declarations of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct 
or any interest under the Local Code of Conduct or any interest under the Code of 
Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting.  
 

4   F/YR23/0772/F 
The Nags Head Public House, 402 Eastrea Road, Eastrea 
Change of use of public house to convenience store (class E(a)) involving the 
installation of a shop front, a new crossover to the front serving the improved car park 
with new screening fence to the front and demolition of existing outbuilding and porch 
(part retrospective) (Pages 3 - 20) 
 
To determine the application. 
 

5   F/YR23/0819/F 
Land East Of 22 Eastwood Industrial Estate, Eastwood End, Wimblington 
Erect a storage building for the storage of fertilisers and provision of hardstanding to 
serve the building (Class B8) (Pages 21 - 38) 
 

Public Document Pack



To determine the application. 
 

6   F/YR24/0161/F 
Land South Of 4 Hole In The Wall Cottages, Padgetts Road, Christchurch 
Erect 1 x dwelling (2-storey 4-bed) in association with existing farm, and formation of 
an access (Pages 39 - 60) 
 
To determine the application. 
 

7   F/YR24/0254/PIP 
Brownlows Yard, 400 Creek Road, March 
Permission in principle to erect up to 9 x dwellings (Pages 61 - 76) 
 
To determine the application. 
 

8   F/YR24/0333/F 
Land North East Of Horseway Farm Accessed From, Byall Fen Drove, Manea 
Erect 1 dwelling (2-storey 3-bed) and formation of a new access (Pages 77 - 88) 
 
To determine the application. 
 

9   F/YR24/0410/F 
Land East Of Stores At The Lodge, Fendyke Lane, Leverington 
Erect a dwelling (2-storey 5-bed) involving the demolition of existing commercial 
buildings (Pages 89 - 104) 
 
To determine the application. 
 

10   Items which the Chairman has under item 2 deemed urgent  
 

 
 
Members:  Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor I Benney, 

Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor P Hicks, Councillor S Imafidon and Councillor 
E Sennitt Clough,   



 
 
F/YR23/0772/F 
 
Applicant:  Mr Raju Goraniya 
 
 

Agent :  Mr Barry Jordan 
 

The Nags Head Public House, 402 Eastrea Road, Eastrea, Peterborough 
Cambridgeshire PE7 2AR 
 
Change of use of public house to convenience store (class E(a)) involving the 
installation of a shop front, a new crossover to the front serving the improved car 
park with new screening fence to the front and demolition of existing outbuilding 
and porch (part retrospective) 
 
Officer recommendation: Grant 
 
Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to the Officer 
recommendation 
 
 
Government Planning Guarantee 
Statutory Target Date For Determination: 30 October 2023 

EOT in Place: Yes 
EOT Expiry: 23 August 2024 

Application Fee: £462 
Risk Statement:  
This application has an EOT until 23 August 2024 and should be determined 
within this timeframe 
 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
 
1.1 The proposal seeks full planning permission for the change of use of a public 

house (sui generis use) to a convenience store (E(a)) involving a new 
shopfront and cross over and formalised parking area for improved access 
and parking off Eastrea Road and demolition of existing outbuilding (part 
retrospective). 
 

1.2 The application site is a vacant public house located within Eastrea. The 
application building is in the need of some refurbishment and the use 
proposed will significantly enhance the local streetscape and the area in 
which it is situated and would continue to provide a community facility, albeit 
with a different use.  
 

1.3 There are no technical constraints or issues arising in respect of the scheme 
that would warrant refusal and the proposal is considered to constitute 
sustainable development and is in accordance with both local and national 
planning policy. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



2. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
2.1 The application site comprises a building and associated land known as the ‘The 

Nags Head’ Public House. The site is understood to have been vacant for around 2 
years and in parts appears in a state of disrepair. The application site has some 
outbuildings, one of which was previously damaged by a road incident and has 
subsequently been demolished for safety reasons. There is an informal car park 
associated to the rear of the unit.  

 
2.2 The application site is located adjacent to the Grade II listed building (398-400 

Eastrea Road) to the west. The site is not located in any designated conservation 
area.  

 
3. PROPOSAL 
 

The application seeks full planning permission for the following;  
 

• change of use of public house to convenience store 
• installation of a shop front  
• demolition of existing outbuilding and porch (part retrospective) 
• Formation of a formalised car park to the rear 
• new crossover to the front and a new front boundary with the combination of 

brick wall and iron railings.  
 
Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at: 
 
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/ 
 
 

4. SITE PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Reference Description Decision 

F/YR11/0407/F Change of Use of public house to 2 x 2-bed dwellings 
and erection of 4 x 2-bed semi-detached houses with 
associated parking involving partial demolition of public 
house 

Refused 

22.07.2011 

F/YR10/0300/F Change of Use of public house to 2 x 2-bed dwellings 
and erection of 4 x 2-bed semi-detached houses with 
associated parking involving partial demolition of public 
house 

Refused 

15.06.2010 

F/YR08/0797/F Erection of a 2-storey detached building for use as 5 
no. holiday let rooms with associated parking 

Withdrawn 

20.11.2009 

  
 
 

5. CONSULTATIONS 
 
5.1 Whittlesey Town Council (17 July 2024)  
 The Town Council recommended refusal due to highways safety, also the 

drawings are very confusing and not clear and needs to be addressed by the 
agent. 

 

Page 4

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/


5.2 Whittlesey Town Council (06 October 2023) 
 The town council recommend refusal due to the access from Jones Lane as this is 

used constantly by breakdown vehicles and farm machinery. Access onto Wype 
Road has safety issue, along with the access from Springfields on the north side of 
the A605, as well as the children’s play area. There will be limited parking on the 
site, and the parking on the A605 will be dangerous. There is also a pelican 
crossing and bus stop close by, all these issues do not make for this to be a safe 
location for a convenience store. There is also the loss of a community asset, 
members vote unanimously in favour of rejection. 

 
5.3 Fenland Conservation Officer (24.07.24)   
 Having had a look at the revised drawing, specifically in relation to the walling and 

railings, this is a material and visual improvement 
 
5.4 Fenland Conservation Officer (10.07.24) 

Apart from needing maintenance, the existing public house is a relatively beneficial 
building to the character and appearance of the area. It benefits from original 
window openings and traditional symmetry. The host building is adjacent to a GII 
listed building and therefore development here would affect its setting. It should be 
noted from the outset that the plans leave much to be desired in terms of detail and 
give little confidence or assurance in a positively detailed external appearance of 
the proposals.  
 
The proposal seeks to remove the whole ground floor frontage to insert a rather 
clumsy and unrelieved shopfront. From experience, the vast majority of glazed 
windows to such convenience store shopfronts are filled with brash window advert 
vinyl in order to cover the appearance of shelving rather than serving a purpose of 
views and light into the shop. As such, it is considered that the only necessary 
alteration is creating a wider central door opening, without the side lights and 
retention of the existing ground floor windows.  
 
The plans appear to detail the insertion of white upvc windows to replace the 
existing modern timber windows. Details of the replacement windows should be 
forthcoming if this is indeed the case and should be vertically sliding sashes for 
which the building was designed to accommodate. The signage details are poor 
and give no indication as to the make up of the fascia or the illumination. Back lit 
tray lighting would be inappropriate and therefore further detail should be 
forthcoming. Applied lettering onto a fascia that no longer than the existing and 
slim trough lighting would be the most appropriate.  
 
The former pub carpark opening on the right hand side of the frontage appears to 
be proposed to be blocked up with industrial wire fencing. This is adjacent to the 
GII listed building and such a solution is considered inappropriate. Timber or 
traditional metal gates would be most acceptable owing to the proximity to the 
listed building and that the character is clearly of a driveway opening. The 
proposals are lacking in necessary detail and overall are considered to result in 
poorly designed and detailed alterations to a building in a prominent location and a 
detrimental impact on the setting of the adjacent GII listed building and therefore 
do not accord with national and local planning policy surrounding design or 
heritage matters. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 5



5.5 Environmental Health Officer (04.7.24) 
The Environmental Health Team note the revised information submitted for the 
above application. Whilst there were no previous objections raised by this service. 
the opportunity is however taken to raise the point that whilst no mechanical 
equipment (e.g. air condition condensing units) can be seen the proposed plans 
(Drawing Ref’s DRG L444.05AR / L444.06C), in the event that any site alterations 
take place from those currently proposed, it will be necessary to impose the 
following condition if planning permission is granted in order to protect the amenity 
of the nearby existing noise sensitive receptors: 

 
 No operational plant, machinery or equipment shall be installed until a noise impact 

assessment and any noise insulation/mitigation as required has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any required noise 
insulation/mitigation shall be carried out as approved and retained as such. 

 
5.6 Environmental Health Officer (02.10.23) 

 The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and 
have ‘No Objections’ to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental effect 
on local air quality, the noise climate, or be affected by ground contamination. 

 
5.7 Definitive Maps team (16.10.23)  

No objections. Public Byway 42, Whittlesey runs along the eastern and southern 
boundary of the site. To view the location of the ROW please view our interactive 
map online which can be found at;  
http://my.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/myCambridgeshire.aspx.  
Whilst the Definitive Map Team has no objection to this proposal, the Byway must 
remain open and unobstructed at all times. 

 
5.8 FDC Economic Growth Team (17.10.23) 
 Supports this application. 
 
5.9 CCC Highways (24.07.24)  

Advises that the amended scheme for the front wall is acceptable.  
 
5.10 CCC Highways (16.04.24)  

The Highways Engineer has confirmed that the amended scheme including the 
removal of proposed outbuilding, removal of the existing porch and revised parking 
arrangements with the cross over off Eastrea Road is acceptable.  

 
5.11 CCC Highways (14.03.2024): Insufficient information to determine the above 

application from the highways perspective Comment: Based on the latest 
information submitted in support of the above application, the following points 
require attention to make the development acceptable in highway terms:  
 
•  The submitted parking layout sketch shows an access width of 5m, regarding the 

proposed parking bays it should be 2.5m x 5m as a minimum however the 
disabled parking should include a 1.2m buffer. It also appears (based on 
proposed parking layout drawing) it would be difficult to access some the bays 
within the proposed parking area (namely the disabled bay, no. 1, 10, 11 and the 
staff parking bay). For this reason, details of the vehicle parking manoeuvres 
superimposed on the proposed parking layout drawing would be needed to 
demonstrate the spaces would function in practice. 

  
•  I did request the applicant provides the LHA with the proposed access with the 

appropriate pedestrian and inter-vehicular visibility splays and the trip generated 

Page 6

http://my.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/myCambridgeshire.aspx


data needed to facilitate the comparison between the permitted use and the 
forecast proposed use. This information regarding trip generation and visibility 
would be fundamental in determining the highway impacts. The applicant has 
thus far not provided the requested information neither the expected legible 
standard engineering drawing showing the above visibility splays and the trip 
generation data for the proposal in comparison with the permitted development. I 
will therefore await the receipt of the above information and plans to progress this 
application. If the applicant is unwilling or unable to amend the application or 
provide additional information with improved clear and legible quality of drawings, 
please advise me so I may consider making further recommendations, possibly of 
refusal. 

 
5.12 CCC Highways (19.10.2023): 
 I am unable to comment on the above application from the highways perspective 

because of the lack of clarity and the confusion regarding the information and the 
illegible drawings submitted by the applicant for consideration. This has made it 
onerous to appreciate what is being proposed in detail and the impacts it may have 
on the adjacent highway, Comments Clear, legible and comprehensive drawings of 
the existing and proposed building line with forecourt, with clear laid out parking 
and delivery bay designated arrangements, drainage, boundary fence and site 
access details should be provided to advance this application from the highways 
perspective. A convenience store would likely result in a greater trip generation 
with trips more likely to be during the daytime. On this basis, the car park access, 
should comply with current standards i.e., 5m wide with the appropriate pedestrian 
and inter-vehicular visibility splays. I would also request the applicant provides me 
with the trip generated data needed to facilitate comparison between the permitted 
use and the forecast proposed use. 

 
5.13 Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 

 10 Objections, 1 support and 3 further representations were received on the 
original scheme.  The comments are summarised as follows: 

 
• The proposed access is not acceptable as it would create more traffic for local 

residents. 
• Parking is not acceptable.  
• No plans for deliveries  
• Plans are not appropriate as it would eradicate the original character of the 

building. 
• Shop is not required as there are existing shops and super stores.  
• Highway safety 

 
Two objections were received after reconsultation on the revised scheme raising 
the following issues: 
•  Need of the shop at this location  
•  Highways Safety  
 
 

 
 

6 STATUTORY DUTY  
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 

planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 

Page 7



for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan 
(2014) and the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan (2023). 

 
6.2 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay special 
attention to preserving a listed building or its setting. 
 
 

7 POLICY FRAMEWORK  
 

7.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
Para. 2 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 10 - So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the 
heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para. 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change 
the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-
making.  
Para. 47 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 135 - Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  
a)  will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 

term but over the lifetime of the development;  
b)  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 

and effective landscaping;  
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);  

d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming 
and distinctive places to live, work and visit;  

e)  optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and  

f)  create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; 
and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  

Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
  

7.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Determining a Planning Application  
  

7.3 National Design Guide 2021  
Context  
Identity  
Built Form  
Movement  
  

7.4 Fenland Local Plan 2014  
 LP1 –  A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
 LP2 –  Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
 LP3 –  Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  

Page 8



 LP6 -  Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail 
 LP12 – Rural Areas Development Policy 
 LP13 –  Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District  
 LP15 –  Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in  
  Fenland  
 LP16 –  Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District   
 LP18 – The Historic Environment  
 
7.5 Emerging Local Plan  
 The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th 

August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and 
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.  
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in 
accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry 
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are 
policies:  

  
 LP1:  Settlement Hierarchy  
 LP3:  Spatial Strategy for Employment Development  
 LP4:  Securing Fenland’s Future  
 LP5:  Health and Wellbeing  
 LP7:  Design  
 LP8:  Amenity Provision 
  LP10:  Shop Frontages, Security Shutters and Canopies 
 LP15:  Employment  
 LP22:  Parking Provision  
 LP27: Community Facilities 
  
7.6 Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan 2021 – 2040 

Policy 7: Design Quality  
Policy 8: Historic Environment 

 and Advertisements 
 

8 KEY ISSUES 
 
• Principle of Development 
• Design considerations and Impact on the Listed Building 
• Impact on residential amenity  
• Highways and Parking  

 
 
9 ASSESSMENT 
 
 Principle of Development 
9.1 The proposal includes a change of use from public house to a retail use (E(a)) that 

would include the changes to the fabric of the building to include a new shopfront 
rear parking area and new front boundary. Policy LP3 defines Eastrea as a “small 
village” and sets out that development will be considered on its merits but will 
normally be of a very limited nature and normally be limited in scale to residential 
infilling or a small business opportunity. Policy LP6 of the Fenland Local Plan aims 
to secure economic growth within the district whilst retaining and maintaining 
community facilities. 

 
9.2 Local Plan Policy LP6 sets out that proposals that would lead to the loss of 

community facilities (such as a public house) would only be supported where: 

Page 9



 
1. it can be demonstrated that:  

a. the retention of the facility is no longer financially viable; 
b. a marketing exercise has been carried out; and  
c. there is a lack of community need for the facility; or 
 

2. an alternative facility is provided. 
 
9.3 It is acknowledged that the proposal would provide a retail unit which is also a 

community facility on its own (as set out in LP6) and that Policy LP6 supports 
alternative community facilities. In this regard the demonstration of compliance with 
Part 1 a) to c) of LP6 is not required, as the alternative option supported through 
Part 2 of LP6 is engaged with this development. 

 
9.4 Notwithstanding, the applicant has advised that some marketing of its current use 

has been undertaken but with limited interest and that real estate agents have also 
shown little interest in marketing the unit in its current use class. It is understood 
that the pub has been closed for over two years and the applicant has failed to 
secure any leases or tenants for the pub. 
 

9.5 As such, whilst not a policy requirement, the submission indicates that there is 
currently no real prospect of the pub successfully re-opening. It is further noted that 
no application has been made for this building to become an asset of community 
value. 

 
9.6 Whilst the loss of a public house is unfortunate, the continued viability of a different 

community facility is considered preferrable to its ultimate closure.  The 
convenience store will offer local employment and continued service to residents of 
Eastrea and the wider community.  Thus, it is considered that the scheme complies 
with Local Plan Policy LP6. 

 
9.7 Concerns have been raised about the location of the proposed shop and its 

viability due to the existing similar shops in the local vicinity of the proposed unit. In 
this regard, the onus is on the applicant to be confident with the viability of the 
proposed development. The development plan policies do not require a proposal of 
this scale to demonstrate retail impacts or justify viability, or similar evidence. 
Policy LP6 is clear that this would be a community facility and is thus supported in 
its own right.   

 
9.8 As such, the principle of development is considered to be in accordance with 

Policy LP3 and LP6 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.  The principle of the 
development will be acceptable subject to the compliance with further policy 
considerations as set out below. 

 
Design considerations and Impact on the Listed Building 

9.9 The proposal would result in external alterations to the building and its premises, 
including a new shopfront installed on the north elevation to facilitate the proposed 
change of use. The design of the shopfront has been altered during the course of 
the application to retain some existing fabric and character of the building.  

 
9.10 It is evident that the property has fallen into a state of disrepair over the last two to 

three years which has, in turn had a detrimental impact on the character of the 
immediate area. A proposal for the reuse of the building to increase its longevity is 
therefore welcomed and the general design of the shop front would positively 
contribute to the character of the area. 

Page 10



 
9.11 The site is located adjacent to a grade II listed building. Policies LP16 and LP18 of 

the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and Policies 7 and 8 of the Whittlesey 
Neighbourhood Plan seek to protect and enhance heritage assets (and general 
character of the area), notwithstanding the duty under Section 66 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to protect the setting of such 
buildings. In this regard, following proactive engagement with the Council’s 
Conservation Officer, the proposed front boundary treatment adjacent to the Listed 
Building has been amended to a brick wall (using reclaimed brick) and iron railing 
arrangement which is considered to preserve the setting and respond positively to 
the historic character of the area. The amendments have overcome initial concerns 
raised regarding the proposal to use industrial wire fencing which failed to enhance 
the area or preserve the setting of the listed building. Furthermore, the proposed 
brick wall along the front boundary would mostly screen the refuse collection point, 
cycle stands and through-views of the car park from the street scene and 
therefore, would improve the impact on the street scene.  

 
9.12 It is noted that a number of outbuildings and extensions are to be removed to 

facilitate the development, which currently detract from the character of the area, 
or are not considered to be important features against the backdrop of the main 
building. It is considered that the proposal would generally improve the appearance 
of the building and its surrounding premises and would have positive impact on the 
character and appearance of the area. Notwithstanding and responding to the 
Conservation Officer’s concerns, the detail provided in respect of replacement 
windows, doors and the shop front is limited and therefore requires clarification in 
respect of materials, profiles and external finishes. This detail can be reasonably 
secured by planning condition. 

 
9.13 In summary, it is considered that the proposal would respond positively to the 

street scene and would preserve the setting of the Grade II listed building and 
comply with policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan and Policies 7 and 
8 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
Impact on residential amenity 

9.14 Local Plan Policies LP2 and LP16(e) seek to ensure that development does not 
adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring or future occupiers. Owing to the lack 
of external changes to the building, there are no issues to reconcile with regard to 
overlooking or overshadowing as a result of the scheme. 

 
9.15 Given the current use of the site it is not considered that the proposed 

development would be likely to generate any significant additional amenity 
impacts. No objection was received from statutory consultees relating to issues 
pertaining to residential amenity. A condition has been recommended for any 
future AC units to be fitted for the retail unit and that it would require Noise 
assessment and further planning permission. As such, the proposal complies with 
Policies LP2 and LP16 in this regard. 

 
Highways and Parking 

9.16 Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan requires that development be located and 
designed to maximise accessibility and provide safe and convenient access for all.  
 

9.17 Appendix A of the Local Plan sets out the parking standards for development 
proposals. The parking requirements for the proposed retail unit are for each shop 
unit; two spaces plus one additional space for every 25 sq. metres of floor space 

Page 11



over 50 sq. metres of floor space. The existing use of the application site as public 
house requires one space for every three sq. metres of floor area.  

 
9.18 The proposed development would create approx. 278 sq. metres of retail area and 

as per the parking standards above, approx. 11 spaces would be required for the 
proposed use. 13 parking spaces have been provided within the existing car park, 
including disabled parking, plus cycle parking and delivery bay, all accessed off 
Eastrea Road to the front. The existing parking would be improved by removing 
some outbuildings and new footway would be laid out with an improved parking 
layout. Precise details of the hardstanding finishes can be reasonably secured via 
planning condition. 

 
9.19 The applicant has indicated that small Transit type vans would be used for main 

stock deliveries in early mornings, with up to 7.5 tonne vehicles for deliveries post 
7am. Turning facilities are available within the application site to allow these 
vehicles to enter and exit the public highway in forward gear. The Highways 
Engineer has confirmed that if the parking is laid as per the submitted details, the 
delivery vehicles would not result in any maneuvering issues detrimental to 
highway safety. The condition to lay and retain the parking arrangements have 
been appended to the recommendations. 

 
9.20 It is considered that the amended scheme with new cross over to the front would 

provide adequate parking for the proposed development and as such, would not 
result in any adverse impact on the highway safety. The amended scheme is 
supported by the Local Highways Authority who have not raised any further 
queries or concern.  Accordingly, the proposal satisfies Policy LP15 of the Fenland 
Local Plan and a refusal on these grounds.  

 
 

10 CONCLUSIONS 
 

10.1 The proposal will facilitate the renovation and effective reuse of a community 
facility which raises no technical issues and would provide opportunities to improve 
the visual appearance of the building and therefore enhance the chracatre of the 
street scene. Whilst the conversion of the building to a retail unit will result in the 
change of use of a community facility (public house), the submitted information 
complies with policy and allows for a recommendation of approval. 

 
 

11 RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant; subject to the following conditions. 
 
1 The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 

years from the date of this permission. 
  
Reason - To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 The front boundary wall hereby approved shall be finished externally in 
reclaimed bricks and wrought iron railings as stated on the approved plan 
L444/7RSY revision 1, notwithstanding the provisions of schedule 2, Part 
2, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015. 
  

Page 12



Reason - To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and the setting of 
adjacent heritage assets in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP18 of 
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Policies 7 and 8 of the Whittlesey 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

3 Notwithstanding the approved plans, no shop front, doors or fenestration 
shall be installed to northern elevation of the proposed shop until full 
details of the materials, profile sections and external finishes have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and thereafter retained as such in perpetuity. 
  
Reason - To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and the setting of 
adjacent heritage assets in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP18 of 
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Policies 7 and 8 of the Whittlesey 
Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

4 Prior to the first use of the retail unit hereby approved, a scheme for the 
provision of external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved details shall be installed 
prior to commencement of use of the retail store and associated car park 
and retained thereafter in perpetuity. 
  
Reason: In order to ensure that the site meets the crime prevention 
guidelines and in the interests of the visual amenity of the area as 
required by Policies LP16, LP17 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 
(2014) and Policies 7 and 8 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

5 The retail use hereby approved shall only open between the hours of 
07:00 and 22:00 daily and shall be closed at all other times, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To safeguard the amenities currently enjoyed by the occupants 
of adjoining dwellings in accordance with Policy LP2 and LP16 of the 
Fenland Local Plan (2014). 
 

6 Details of the surfacing for the parking area and pedestrian footways shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing before said areas are laid. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the area in 
accordance with policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) 
and Policy 7 of the Whittlesey Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

7 Prior to the first use of the development, the proposed on-site parking, 
turning, loading, unloading areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, 
surfaced and drained fully in accordance with approved plans and 
thereafter retained for that specific use. 
  
Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/maneuvering 
area in the interests in highway safety in accordance with Policies LP2 
and LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014). 
 

8 The development shall not be brought into use until its related means of 
vehicular access has been constructed fully in accordance with the 
approved plans. 

Page 13



  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure satisfactory 
access into the site in accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local 
Plan (2014). 
 

9 No external operational plant, machinery or equipment shall be installed 
unless a noise impact assessment and any noise insulation/mitigation as 
required has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Any required noise insulation/mitigation shall be 
carried out as approved and retained as such. 
  
Reason: To safeguard the amenities currently enjoyed by the occupants 
of adjoining dwellings in accordance with Policy LP2 and LP16 of the 
Fenland Local Plan (2014). 
 

10 The ground floor of the building hereby approved shall be used for retail 
purposes only as defined in Class E(a) and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class E to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-
enacting that Order). 
  
Reason: In granting this permission the Council has had regard to the 
particular circumstances of this case and considers that unrestricted use 
within Use Class E may be unacceptable in view of existing residential 
properties nearby having regard to Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland 
Local Plan (2014). 
 

11 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved plans and documents. 
 

 

Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



 
 
 
F/YR23/0819/F 
 
Applicant:  Mr Mark Law 
Laws Fertilisers Limited 
 

Agent: N/A 

Land East Of 22 Eastwood Industrial Estate, Eastwood End, Wimblington, 
Cambridgeshire   
 
Erect a storage building for the storage of fertilisers and provision of 
hardstanding to serve the building (Class B8) 
 
Officer recommendation: Grant 
 
Reason for Committee: Parish Council comments contrary to Officer 
recommendation. 
 
 
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The application site is an area of land located to the east of the existing unit 
currently serving Law Fertilisers Ltd within Eastwood End Industrial Estate. The 
site is currently bound by a palisade fence and vegetation, access to the site is 
gained through the existing gated entrance located to the southwest of the 
existing unit on the site.  
 

1.2. The site is located within Flood Zone 1, the lowest probability of flooding.  
 

1.3. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a storage 
building (B8 Storage and Distribution) for the bulk storage of fertilisers.  

 
1.4. An original objection from the LLFA has been removed following submission of 

additional information.  
 
1.5. The Parish Council concerns with respect to the application appear unfounded 

when considered against the evidence and the relevant policies of the Fenland 
Local Plan 2014. Accordingly, refusal of the scheme is not justified in this case 
and therefore, the application is recommended for approval. 

 
 
 
2 SITE DESCRIPTION 

 
2.1 The application site is an area of land directly to the east of an existing commercial 

building currently serving Law Fertilisers Ltd to the northern periphery of the 
Eastwood End Industrial Estate, which sits at the edge of the village with open 
countryside to the north and north-east. The site is currently bound by a palisade 
fence and vegetation, with access to the site gained through the existing gated 
entrance located to the southwest of the existing unit on the site.  

 
2.2 The site is located within Flood Zone 1, the lowest probability of flooding.  
 
3 PROPOSAL 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 
3.1. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a storage building 

(B8 Storage and Distribution) for the bulk storage of fertilisers. Further to this, there 
proposes a formalised strip of hardstanding to serve the entrance of the proposed 
building.  
 

3.2. The proposed storage building would measure approx. 38m in depth, 30m in width 
and have a maximum height of 14.75m. The front (western) elevation of the unit 
would be open. The proposed materials would include grey concrete grain walls 
with goose wing grey metal cladding to match the existing unit on site and a 
concrete fibre roof.  

 
3.3. An area for the parking of HGV’s would be located to the north side of the 

proposed storage unit.  
 

3.4. No changes are proposed to the existing access, internal vehicular route or 
external lighting within the site. 

 
3.5. Similarly, it is noted within the submission that existing parking arrangements on 

site will be unaffected, and the proposal will generate no additional waste. 
 
 
4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY 
 

Reference Description Decision 
F/YR16/0330/F Erection of a two storey front 

extension and lean-to side 
extension to existing storage 
building 

Granted 18/8/16 

F/YR15/0179/CERTP Certificate of Lawful Use 
(Proposed): Formation of an   
access track to service 
existing grain store 

Certificate issued 
 

 

F/YR14/0679/F Change of use of land for 
storage and formation of a 
concrete  pad/enclosure in 
connection with the grain 
store (retrospective) 

Granted 8th October 2014 
 

F/YR08/0433/F Erection of a store and 
covered parking bays (land to 
west of application site, Laws 
fertilisers) 

Granted 4/8/09 

 
 
5 CONSULTATIONS 

 
5.1. Wimblington Parish Council (15/11/2023) 

Object as further saturation of ground and intensification of light industrial estate. 
Concern expressed as storage of fertiliser is more dangerous. Storage is close to 
Fengrain silo’s which could be dangerous. FDC policies LP2 and LP16. 
 
 

5.2. FDC Environmental Health (27/10/2023) 

Page 22



The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and 
have ‘No Objections’ to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental effect 
on local air quality, the noise climate, or be affected by ground contamination. 
 

5.3. FDC Environmental Health (30/11/2023) 
I have had another look at this application and considered the latest supporting 
information. This service doesn’t wish to revise previous comments as it 
acknowledged that the fertilisers will be sufficiently protected from the elements 
whilst having adequate ventilation due to the open front elevation. The applicant 
must ensure that the site is sufficiently secured to prevent unauthorised access 
and that good industry practice for the storage of fertiliser is adhered to. More 
information on storage of fertilisers can be found on the Health and Safety 
Executive (HSE) website via the following: 
https://www.hse.gov.uk/explosives/ammonium/#storing-handling 
 

5.4. CCC Highways (16/11/2023) 
This application is seeking to erect a storage building for the deliveries of bulk 
materials. The proposed gross internal floor space is 1140m2. 
 
It is stated that the vehicular access for the storage building will be as existing, 
however no information has been submitted on number of deliveries expected to 
be generated by the proposed bulk material store. Also, a plan showing the 
capability of the existing and additional vehicles to park and turn within the site is 
absent in support of the application.  
 
Without this information it is difficult to make a robust assessment on the 
adequacy of the site’s operational space for the existing and additional number 
and type of delivery vehicles that would access the compound.  
 
If the LPA are mindful to approve the application, please append the following 
Conditions to any consent granted.  
 
Construction Facilities: Prior to the commencement of the development hereby 
approved adequate temporary facilities area (details of which shall have previously 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be 
provided clear of the public highway for the parking, turning, loading, and 
unloading of all vehicles visiting the site during the period of construction.  
 
Reason: To minimise interference with the free flow and safety of traffic on the 
adjoining public highway in accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 
2014. 
 
Wheel Wash Facilities: Development shall not commence until fully operational 
wheel cleaning equipment has been installed within the site. All vehicles leaving 
the site shall pass through the wheel cleaning equipment which shall be sited to 
ensure that vehicles are able to leave the site and enter the public highway in a 
clean condition and free of debris which could fall onto the public highway. The 
wheel cleaning equipment shall be retained on site in full working order for the 
duration of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP15 of the 
Fenland Local Plan 2014. On receipt of requested information and clarifications I 
would be able to provide further comments on the above proposal on highway 
grounds. 
 

Page 23

https://www.hse.gov.uk/explosives/ammonium/#storing-handling


5.5. CCC Highways (19/02/2024) 
The following comments should be read in conjunction with my Highway 
comments of 16/11/2023.  
 
I have reviewed the applicant’s submitted revised site plan and additional 
information concerning the number of deliveries expected to be generated by the 
proposed bulk material store, together with the details regarding the capability of 
the existing and additional vehicles to park and turn within the site in support of the 
application.  
 
I can confirm the additional information provided to address the above issues is 
considered acceptable. 
 

5.6. CCC Minerals and Waste (26/10/2023) 
It is noted that the proposed development is located within the Waste Consultation 
Area for the safeguarded waste site known as Hook Lane as identified under 
Policy 16 (Consultation Areas) of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan (2021).  
 
Policy 16 seeks to safeguard waste management facilities. It states that 
development within a CA will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that the 
development will not prejudice the existing or future use of the area, i.e. the waste 
management site for which the CA has been designated; and not result in 
unacceptable amenity issues or adverse impacts to human health for the 
occupiers or users of such new development, due to the ongoing or future use of 
the area for which the CA has been designated.  
 
It is noted that the proposed development is for the erection of a storage building, 
(Use Class B8). The MWPA is of the view that proposed use is generally 
considered to be compatible with the nearby waste management land use. 
Consequently, the MWPA has no objection to the application. For reference a full 
copy of Policy 16 can be found at the end of this letter.  
 
For reference, the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan can be found on our website at: 
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/business/planning-and-development/planning-
policy/adopted-minerals-and-waste-plan 
 

5.7. Designing Out Crime Officer (03/11/2023) 
I have viewed the documents in relation to crime, disorder, and the fear of crime. I 
have searched the Constabulary crime and incident systems covering location and 
ward for the last 2 years. I would consider the proposed location to be an area of 
low to medium risk to the vulnerability to crime. 
 
There is limited detailed documents and no security or crime prevention section 
within the DAS. As you are aware, it is important that security and crime 
prevention are considered and discussed at the earliest opportunity to ensure that 
the security of buildings, homes, amenity space and the environment provide a 
safe place for people living, working in, and visiting this location. 
Please see comments below for your consideration. 
 
External lighting – A good lighting plan is essential for both safety and security 
reasons, it will also complement any CCTV and assist in identifying any would-be 
offenders. I would like to see your lighting plan when available please. 
 

Page 24

https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/business/planning-and-development/planning-policy/adopted-minerals-and-waste-plan
https://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/business/planning-and-development/planning-policy/adopted-minerals-and-waste-plan


CCTV - While it is not a universal solution to security problems, it can help deter 
vandalism or burglary and assist with the identification of culprits once a crime has 
been committed. The provision and effective use of CCTV fits well within the 
overall framework of security management and is most effective when it forms part 
of an overall security plan. CCTV should meet BS EN 50132-7: 2012+A1:2013 
CCTV surveillance systems for use in security applications. It should cover the 
access entrance, building entrances and perimeter, the site boundary, and open 
yards. It needs be of a quality that always produces evidential images 
(complemented by lighting) and have the capability to store and retrieve images, 
either be monitored by an Alarm Receiving Company (ARC) or linked to the 
security office if approved or mobile device. CCTV should also be registered with 
the Information Commissioners Office (ICO). 
 
Signage - CCTV signage should be at the entrance compliant with the ICO Code 
of Practice. 
 
Alarm - Our recommendation is that a monitored alarm system is installed. Visit 
the National Security Inspectorate (NSI), or the Security Systems and Alarms 
Inspection Board (SSAIB) for more information. 
 
Information only: Taking into consideration the location of this proposed 
development, it is important that boundary treatments to the site are considered as 
Cambridgeshire has a problem with hare coursing on open fields.  
 
If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

5.8. FDC Tree Officer (13/11/2023) 
I’ve had a look at the above site (industrial unit Eastwood Industrial Estate) and 
have no objection to the scheme.  
 
There is a belt of trees to the northeast corner of the proposal protected by TPO 
2/2007, whilst they are outside the development redline area they will require 
protective fencing to prevent compaction of the soil, though I suspect being an 
industrial site the ground has already been compacted  

 
5.9   LLFA (21/3/24) 
 

At present we object to the grant of planning permission for the following reasons:  
 
1. No SW Drainage Strategy Paragraph 167 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework requires planning applications to be supported by a site-specific flood 
risk assessment. Such an assessment should include a surface water strategy and 
must demonstrate that the proposed development incorporates sustainable 
drainage systems (SuDS), unless there is clear evidence that this would be 
inappropriate. The SuDS should: a) Take account of advice from the Lead Local 
Flood Authority; b) Have appropriate minimum operational standards; c) Have 
maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of operation 
for the lifetime of the development; and d) Where possible, provide multifunctional 
benefits As a flood risk assessment/surface water strategy containing the above 
information has not been submitted there is insufficient information in order for us 
to determine the impacts of the proposal. 
 
For a full application the following should be included within the surface water 
strategy: i. Existing impermeable area ii. Proposed impermeable area / 
developable area (including an allowance for urban creep) iii. A description of site 

Page 25



topography iv. A description of ground conditions (using site investigation where 
possible) v. Identification of any surface water flood risk vi. Existing site drainage 
arrangements vii.Proposed method of surface water disposal viii. Existing and 
proposed runoff rates (if discharging off-site) ix. Existing and proposed runoff 
volumes (if discharging off-site) x. Required volume of attenuation (m3 per m2 of 
impermeable area) xi. Preliminary SuDS proposals xii.Infiltration test results in 
accordance with BRE365 (or second viable option for surface water disposal if 
testing hasn’t yet been undertaken) xiii. Drainage layout drawing and supporting 
hydraulic calculations  
 
Informatives Pollution Control Surface water and groundwater bodies are highly 
vulnerable to pollution and the impact of construction activities. It is essential that 
the risk of pollution (particularly during the construction phase) is considered and 
mitigated appropriately. It is important to remember that flow within the 
watercourse is likely to vary by season and it could be dry at certain times 
throughout the year. Dry watercourses should not be overlooked as these 
watercourses may flow or even flood following heavy rainfall. 
 
LLFA (04/06/24) 
 
We have reviewed the following documents:  
• Site Plan Existing, Greg Saberton Design, Ref: 05/ 3019/ 22, Dated: September 
2023  
• Site Plan Proposed, Greg Saberton Design, Ref: 02/ 3019/ 22, Dated: September 
2023  
 
Based on these, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) we can remove our 
objection to the proposed development. The above documents demonstrate that 
surface water from the proposed development can be managed through the re-use 
of the water which will be intercepted from the roof into existing storage tanks. 
Runoff from hardstanding is deemed to be insignificant and have little impact on 
the surrounding area. We request that the following conditions are imposed:  
 
Condition 1 No laying of services, creation of hard surfaces or erection of a 
building shall commence until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the 
site, based on the agreed Site Plan Proposed, Greg Saberton Design, Ref: 02/ 
3019/ 22, Dated: September 2023 has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented 
in full accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of the first dwelling. 
 
Reason To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water 
quality, and improve habitat and amenity.  
 
Condition 2 No development, including preparatory works, shall commence until 
details of measures indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will 
be avoided during the construction works have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The applicant may be required to provide 
collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The approved 
measures and systems shall be brought into operation before any works to create 
buildings or hard surfaces commence.  
 
Reason To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the construction 
phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to adjacent 
land/properties or occupied properties within the development itself; recognising 
that initial works to prepare the site could bring about unacceptable impacts.  

Page 26



 
 
Informatives  
Pollution Control Surface water and groundwater bodies are highly vulnerable to 
pollution and the impact of construction activities. It is essential that the risk of 
pollution (particularly during the construction phase) is considered and mitigated 
appropriately. It is important to remember that flow within the watercourse is likely 
to vary by season and it could be dry at certain times throughout the year. Dry 
watercourses should not be overlooked as these watercourses may flow or even 
flood following heavy rainfall. 

 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 

5.10 Objectors 
 

5 letters of objection have been received from 2 addresses within Eastwood End, 
Wimblington which raised the following summarised concerns: 
 

• The industrial estate is overdeveloped and will increase operating hours 
• Concern regarding the effect that conventional fertilisers is having on the 

greenhouse emissions 
• Adverse impact on the environment, the local landscape, local residents and 

their homes 
• Harmful impacts on wildlife and humans 
• Additional noise, air pollution and traffic 

 
 

6 STATUTORY DUTY  
 

6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan 
(2014). 

 
 
7 POLICY FRAMEWORK  

 
7.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

 
Para. 2 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 10 - So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the 
heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para. 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change 
the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-
making.  
Para. 47 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
  

7.2. National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Determining a Planning Application  
  

Page 27



7.3. National Design Guide 2021  
Context  
Identity  
Built Form  
Resources  
  

7.4. Fenland Local Plan 2014  
LP1 –  A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
LP2 –  Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
LP3 –  Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  
LP6 –  Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail  
LP12 -  Rural Area Development Policy 
LP14 – Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in  
  Fenland  
LP15 – Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in  
  Fenland  
LP16 – Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District  
LP19 – Natural Environment 
 

7.5. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021  
Policy 5: Mineral safeguarding Areas 
 

7.6. Emerging Local Plan  
The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th 
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and 
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.  
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in 
accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry 
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are 
policies:  
  
LP1:   Settlement Hierarchy  
LP3:   Spatial Strategy for Employment Development  
LP4:   Securing Fenland’s Future  
LP5:   Health and Wellbeing  
LP7:   Design  
LP15:  Employment  
LP16:  Town Centres  
LP22:  Parking Provision  
LP28:  Landscape  
LP32:  Flood and Water Management  
 

 
8 KEY ISSUES 

 
• Principle of Development 
• Character and visual amenity and associated amenity impacts 
• Highways  
• Minerals and Waste 
• Flood Risk/Drainage 
• Biodiversity 

 
 
9 ASSESSMENT 

 

Page 28



Principle of Development 
9.1   Policy LP6 seeks to retain high quality land and premises for industrial uses. The 

proposed additional building would support an established business in an area 
identified as appropriate for industrial uses and the scale of development is 
considered appropriate within the context of the location. As such, the principle of 
the development is supported subject to compliance with other relevant policies of 
the Fenland Local Plan.  

 
 Character and visual amenity and associated amenity impacts 
9.2 The building sits some 240 metres back from the highway at Hook Lane within an    

existing industrial area and to the east side of the existing Law Fertiliser Ltd unit 
within Eastwood Industrial Estate. The proposed unit is of a comparable scale to 
those on adjacent sites and follows the typical design principles characteristic of an 
industrial area. The proposed unit would be in keeping with the character and 
appearance of the neighbouring industrial units and is therefore considered to be 
sympathetic additions within the street scene. 

 
9.3 The proposal would maintain an industrial use within an industrial area, no 

changes are proposed to the external lighting within the site, the nearest residential 
dwelling to the proposed development would be located approx. 390 metres away 
along Eastwood End, which would be a substantial distance from the site and 
therefore it is considered there would be no adverse impacts imposed on the 
residential dwellings located around the site. The Environmental Health Team have 
also presented comments of ‘no objection’ on the submitted application stating that 
‘the proposal is unlikely to have a detrimental effect on local air quality, the noise 
climate, or be affected by ground contamination.’ Additionally adding, that the 
fertilisers ‘will be sufficiently protected from the elements whilst having adequate 
ventilation due to the open front elevation.’  

 
9.4 Accordingly, the scheme is considered acceptable in character and amenity terms  

and may therefore be accepted as compliant with Policies LP2 and LP16 in so far 
as they relate to character/visual amenity and associated amenity considerations. 

 
 Highways 
9.5 There are no alterations proposed to the existing access, an area for the parking of  

HGV’s is proposed to the north side of the proposed storage unit and the existing 
car parking on site is to be utilised.  

 
9.6 The Local Highway Authority have submitted comments on the proposed 

development stating the details submitted in relation to the adequacy of the sites 
operational space, number of deliveries expected to be generated by the proposed 
bulk material store and details regarding the capability of the existing and 
additional vehicles to park and turn within the site are acceptable. The Highways 
Officer has requested that conditions relating to construction facilities and wheel 
washing appended to any approval. These conditions are appropriate.  

 
9.7 The LHA have raised no objection to the scheme and there are no grounds to 

withhold consent on the grounds of highway safety and no issues to reconcile in 
respect of Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014. 

 
 Minerals and Waste 
9.8 It is noted that the proposed development is located within the Waste Consultation 

Area for the safeguarded waste site known as Hook Lane as identified under 
Policy 16 (Consultation Areas) of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan (2021). 

Page 29



 
9.9  Policy 16 seeks to safeguard waste management facilities. It states that 

development within a CA will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that the 
development will not prejudice the existing or future use of the area, i.e. the waste 
management site for which the CA has been designated; and not result in 
unacceptable amenity issues or adverse impacts to human health for the occupiers 
or users of such new development, due to the ongoing or future use of the area for 
which the CA has been designated. 

 
9.10 CCC Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (MWPA) have commented on the 

submitted application detailing ‘The MWPA is of the view that proposed use is 
generally considered to be compatible with the nearby waste management land 
use. Consequently, the MWPA has no objection to the application.’ 

 
 Flood risk/Drainage 
9.11 The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low risk), however, the 

application falls within the definition of a major application and therefore the LLFA 
were consulted on the application. 

 
9.12 An original objection was received due to the failure to have supplemented the 

application with a site specific FRA and surface water drainage strategy. Updated 
information was provided from the applicant that confirmed that ‘as fertiliser 
manufacturers we are very short of water capacity and pressure and we plan to 
harvest the rain water to be used in foliar and liquid fertiliser manufacture from the 
roof of the new shed. We will be able to store up to 120,000 litres of water and will 
have a foliar fertiliser production capacity of 50,000 litres/day. There will be a short 
narrow strip of concrete feeding the new shed entrance extending from existing 
road infrastructure creating very little additional surface water ( 5m x 10m less 
0.6m X 90% = 27,000m water /year) and as the maximum annual capture will be 
615,000 litres  (see attachment) from the roof this will not create any flood risk due 
to the capture and reuse procedure due to be in place.’ 

 
9.13 The LLFA were reconsulted, and based on the additional information provided, 

removed the objection subject to the imposition of conditions. The proposal is 
considered to be appropriate development and there are no further issues to 
address in respect of Policy LP14. 

 
 Biodiversity 
9.14 The site is bordered to the north by a line of protected trees with a small number 

within the application site toward the east but beyond the area proposed for 
development. Trees of most amenity value and landscape impact are not 
anticipated to be affected by the development, although some clearance of 
scrubland and a small tree within the site would be removed.  

 
9.15 As such, no significant tree loss or biodiversity harm is anticipated through the 

development, particularly given the nature and condition of the land intended for 
development. Notwithstanding, in accordance with Policy LP16, LP19 and the 
NPPF, it is recommended to secure a scheme of biodiversity enhancements, to 
ensure that opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around the site are taken 
and also that measures to safeguard the protected trees for the duration of 
development are undertaken.  

 
 
10 CONCLUSIONS 

 

Page 30



10.1. The proposed development is considered acceptable as it aligns with both national 
and local planning policy as outlined above and may therefore be favourably 
recommended. 

 
 
11 RECOMMENDATION  

 
Grant; subject to conditions. 

 
11.1 Section 100ZA(5) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that 

planning permission for the development of land may not be granted subject to a 
pre-commencement condition without the written agreement of the applicant to the 
terms of the condition (except in the circumstances set out in the Town and 
Country Planning (Pre-commencement Conditions) Regulations 2018). The 
applicant has been consulted on the proposed conditions (6 & 7) and has 
confirmed their agreement to these in writing. It is therefore considered that the 
requirements of section 100ZA(5) have been met. 

 
11.2 The proposed conditions are as follows; 
 

1 The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this permission.  
 
Reason: To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 A temporary facilities area shall be provided clear of the public highway for 
the parking, turning, loading, and unloading of all vehicles visiting the site 
during the period of construction.  
 
Reason: To minimise interference with the free flow and safety of traffic on 
the adjoining public highway in accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland 
Local Plan 2014. 
 

3 Fully operational wheel cleaning equipment shall be installed within the site 
and operational at all times during construction. All vehicles leaving the site 
shall pass through the wheel cleaning equipment which shall be sited to 
ensure that vehicles are able to leave the site and enter the public highway in 
a clean condition and free of debris which could fall onto the public highway. 
The wheel cleaning equipment shall be retained on site in full working order 
for the duration of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP15 of 
the Fenland Local Plan 2014. 
 

4 The development hereby approved shall be finished externally in materials  
specified below:  
 
 -Roof – Grey Concrete Fibre 
 -Walls – Grey Concrete Grain Walls and Goose Wing Grey Cladding 
  
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and ensure 
compliance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, adopted May 2014. 
 

5 If during development, contamination not previously identified, is found to be 

Page 31



present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the LPA) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, 
and obtained written approval from the LPA, a Method Statement detailing 
how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development complies with approved details in 
the interests of the protection of human health and the environment in 
accordance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014. 
 

6 No laying of services, creation of hard surfaces or erection of a building shall 
commence until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based 
on the agreed Site Plan Proposed, Greg Saberton Design, Ref: 02/ 3019/ 22, 
Dated: September 2023 has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in full accordance with the approved details prior to use of the 
development. 

 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect 
water quality, and improve habitat and amenity in accordance with Policy 
LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014. 
 

7 No development, including preparatory works, shall commence until details of 
measures indicating how additional surface water run-off from the site will be 
avoided during the construction works have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The applicant may be required to 
provide collection, balancing and/or settlement systems for these flows. The 
approved measures and systems shall be brought into operation before any 
works to create buildings or hard surfaces commence.  

 
Reason: To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the 
construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood risk to 
adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the development itself; 
recognising that initial works to prepare the site could bring about 
unacceptable impacts in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local 
Plan 2014. 
  

8 Prior to development above slab level, a scheme of biodiversity 
enhancements, including a timetable for implementation shall be submitted to 
an approved in writing by the local Planning authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and timetable and 
thereafter retained in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development enhances biodiversity in 
accordance with policies LP16, LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and 
Chapter 15 of the NPPF. 
 

9 No development, including any site preparation, demolition, scrub/hedgerow 
clearance or tree works/removal shall commence or be undertaken on site 
until protective fencing has been erected to protect the trees to the north east 
of the site which are protected by TPO 2/2007. This should be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed tree 
protection shall be implemented in accordance with BS5837 Trees in 
Relation to Demolition, Design & Construction 2012 and remain in place and 
be maintained for the duration of the works no vehicle, plant, temporary 
building or materials, including raising and or, lowering of ground levels, shall 

Page 32



be allowed within the protection areas(s) specified. 
 
Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are taken to preserve trees and 
their root systems whilst construction work is progressing on site in 
accordance with policy LP16 and LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) 
 

 
10 Development in accordance with approved plans. 

 
  

Page 33



Isle Of Ely Way

Eastwood End

Wi
llo

wG
ard

en
s

Rho
nda

 Par
k

Spa r row

Lane

Hook Drove

Work
hou

se
Dro

ve

Hook LaneBridge Lane

Hook Road

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2023 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Created on: 26/10/2023

1:5,000Scale = 

F/YR23/0819/F ±
Page 34



E
X

IS
T

IN
G

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

U
N

IT

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

U
N

IT

S
T

O
R

E

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

O
F

F
IC

E

E
X

. C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 A
R

E
A

E
xistin

g pa
rkin

g area
, no

inten
sifica

tion
 o

f use prop
osed.

4
4t a

rcticu
la

te
d lo

rry tu
rn

ing
p

ro
vision

, m
a

x. 4
 n

o. d
aily, no

inten
sifica

tion
 o

f use prop
osed.

E
xistin

g co
ncre

te
 a

re
a is u

se
d for

lorry m
an

ou
ve

ring
, so

 the
y ca

n ba
ck

u
p in

to
 e

ithe
r th

e existing
 b

uild
ing for

site de
live

ries. A
rea

 is ke
pt cle

ar for
this pu

rp
ose on

ly a
nd

 is not
p

ro
po

se
d to

 cha
ng

e w
ith

 the
 w

orks.

C
ars pa

rked
 to fron

ta
ge

 u
tilise

the
 sam

e ro
ute arou

nd the
e

xistin
g

 u
n

it a
s delivery vehicles

take arou
nd

 the
 site so

 as to
lea

ve
 in fo

rw
ard ge

ar. O
ther

tha
n pa

rkin
g area

 the
 e

ntire
rou

te
 is ke

pt cle
ar 2

4 hrs a day
to allo

w
 sa

fe
 d

elivery of sup
plies

a
nd

 p
assa

ge
w

a
y / m

a
no

uvering
sp

a
ce

 fo
r d

e
livery vehicles.

D
irection

 o
f ve

hicu
lar

tra
ffic flo

w
 arou

nd
 the site

A
re

a is d
esig

na
te

d fo
r pa

rked
 lorries.

T
u

rn
in

g
 p

o
ssib

le
 by reversing back

to th
e ve

hicu
la

r ro
ute arou

nd the
fro

nt u
nit, a

nd
 resum

in
g co

urse.

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 1

:12
50

E
xisting

 co
ncre

te roadw
ay

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
T

O
R

E
 U

N
IT

 - LA
W

F
E

R
T

ILIS
E

R
S

, E
A

S
T

W
O

O
D

 E
N

D
,

W
IM

B
L

IN
G

T
O

N
, M

A
R

C
H

, C
A

M
B

S
.

C
on

tra
ct :

S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
(A

S
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
)

T
itle

 :
G

R
E

G
 S

A
B

E
R

T
O

N
 D

E
S

IG
N

T
o

m
's H

o
le

 B
a

rn
, B

ra
n

ch
 B

a
n

k, P
rickw

illo
w

, E
ly, C

am
b

ridgeshire, C
B

7 4U
R

T
e

l/F
a

x : 0
1

353 687999
E

m
a

il : g
re

g
@

g
re

g
sa

b
e

rtondesign.co.uk

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L

 D
E

S
IG

N
 C

O
N

S
U

LT
A

N
C

Y

S
ca

le : 1
 : 12

50
D

ate
 : S

E
P

T
 20

23
D

ra
w

ing
 N

um
b

e
r : 0

5 / 3
01

9
 / 2

2

T
hese

 d
raw

in
g

s a
re the

C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T

 of G
re

g
S

ab
e

rto
n

 D
esign.

U
n

a
uth

o
rised

copying
 is no

t p
e

rm
itte

d.

R
e

visio
ns :

-

Page 35



P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 1

:12
50

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

U
N

IT

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

U
N

IT

S
T

O
R

E

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

O
F

F
IC

E

E
X

. C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 A
R

E
A

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

U
N

IT

E
xistin

g pa
rkin

g area
, no

inten
sifica

tion
 o

f use prop
osed.

4
4t a

rcticu
la

te
d lo

rry tu
rn

ing
p

ro
vision

, m
a

x. 4
 n

o. d
aily, no

inten
sifica

tion
 o

f use prop
osed.

E
xistin

g co
ncre

te
 a

re
a is to be

 used
for lorry m

an
ou

ve
ring

, so
 the

y can
b

ack up
 into eith

er the
 e

xisting or
p

ro
po

se
d bu

ilding
 for site de

live
ries.

A
re

a is kep
t clea

r fo
r th

is p
urpose

o
nly an

d is n
ot p

ro
po

se
d to

 change
w

ith th
e w

o
rks.

C
ars pa

rked
 to fron

ta
ge

 w
ill

u
tilise

 the
 sam

e ro
ute arou

nd the
e

xistin
g

 u
n

it a
s delivery vehicles

take arou
nd

 the
 site so

 as to
lea

ve
 in fo

rw
ard ge

ar. O
ther

tha
n pa

rkin
g area

 the
 e

ntire
rou

te
 is ke

pt cle
ar 2

4 hrs a day
to allo

w
 sa

fe
 d

elivery of sup
plies

a
nd

 p
assa

ge
w

a
y / m

a
no

uvering
sp

a
ce

 fo
r d

e
livery vehicles.

D
irection

 o
f ve

hicu
lar

tra
ffic flo

w
 arou

nd
 the site

A
re

a is d
esig

na
te

d fo
r pa

rked
 lorries.

T
u

rn
in

g
 p

o
ssib

le
 by reversing back

to th
e ve

hicu
la

r ro
ute arou

nd the
fro

nt u
nit, a

nd
 resum

in
g co

urse.

E
xisting

 co
ncre

te roadw
ay

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 S
T

O
R

E
 U

N
IT

 - LA
W

F
E

R
T

ILIS
E

R
S

, E
A

S
T

W
O

O
D

 E
N

D
,

W
IM

B
L

IN
G

T
O

N
, M

A
R

C
H

, C
A

M
B

S
.

C
on

tra
ct :

S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
(A

S
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
)

T
itle

 :
G

R
E

G
 S

A
B

E
R

T
O

N
 D

E
S

IG
N

T
o

m
's H

o
le

 B
a

rn
, B

ra
n

ch
 B

a
n

k, P
rickw

illo
w

, E
ly, C

am
b

ridgeshire, C
B

7 4U
R

T
e

l/F
a

x : 0
1

353 687999
E

m
a

il : g
re

g
@

g
re

g
sa

b
e

rtondesign.co.uk

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

U
R

A
L

 D
E

S
IG

N
 C

O
N

S
U

LT
A

N
C

Y

S
ca

le : 1
 : 12

50
D

ate
 : S

E
P

T
 20

23
D

ra
w

ing
 N

um
b

e
r : 0

2 / 3
01

9
 / 2

2

T
hese

 d
raw

in
g

s a
re the

C
O

P
Y

R
IG

H
T

 of G
re

g
S

ab
e

rto
n

 D
esign.

U
n

a
uth

o
rised

copying
 is no

t p
e

rm
itte

d.

R
e

visio
ns :

A
, ve

h
icu

la
r p

a
rkin

g
 a

n
d

 tu
rn

in
g

 a
rra

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts clarified (06-02-24)

Page 36



metal cladding, colour to
match existing outbuilding

SIDE

FRONT
ELEVATIONS 1:200

SIDE

REAR

10
4

50

14
7

50

3m 4m0 1m 2m 5m

38000 30000

metal cladding, colour to
match existing outbuilding

PROPOSED STORE UNIT - LAW
FERTILISERS, EASTWOOD END,
WIMBLINGTON, MARCH, CAMBS.

Contract :
ELEVATIONS
AS PROPOSED

Title : GREG SABERTON DESIGN

Tom's Hole Barn, Branch Bank, Prickwillow, Ely, Cambridgeshire, CB7 4UR
Tel/Fax : 01353 687999

Email : greg@gregsabertondesign.co.uk

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN CONSULTANCY

Scale : 1 : 200
Date : SEPT 2023
Drawing Number : 04 / 3019 / 22

These drawings are the
COPYRIGHT of Greg
Saberton Design.
Unauthorised
copying is not permitted.

Revisions :
-

P
age 37



3m 4m0 1m 2m 5m

STORAGE &
PRODUCTION
BUILDING

38000

30
00

0

F
R

O
N

T

GROUND FLOOR PLAN AS
PROPOSED 1:200

PROPOSED STORE UNIT - LAW
FERTILISERS, EASTWOOD END,
WIMBLINGTON, MARCH, CAMBS.

Contract :
GROUND FLOOR PLAN
AS PROPOSED

Title : GREG SABERTON DESIGN

Tom's Hole Barn, Branch Bank, Prickwillow, Ely, Cambridgeshire, CB7 4UR
Tel/Fax : 01353 687999

Email : greg@gregsabertondesign.co.uk

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN CONSULTANCY

Scale : 1 : 200
Date : SEPT 2023
Drawing Number : 03 / 3019 / 22

These drawings are the
COPYRIGHT of Greg
Saberton Design.
Unauthorised
copying is not permitted.

Revisions :
-

P
age 38



 

 
F/YR24/0161/F 
 
Applicant:  Mr Roger Gladwin 
 
 

Agent:  Mr J Scotcher 
 Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd 

Land South Of 4 Hole In The Wall Cottages, Padgetts Road, Christchurch,    
 
Erect 1 x dwelling (2-storey 4-bed) in association with existing farm, and 
formation of an access 
 
Officer recommendation: Refuse 
 
Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to officer 
recommendation 
 
 
Government Planning Guarantee 
Statutory Target Date For Determination: 16 April 2024 

EOT in Place: Yes 
EOT Expiry: 16 August 2024 

Application Fee: £578 
Risk Statement:  
This application must be determined by 16th August 2024 otherwise it will be 
out of time and therefore negatively affect the performance figures. 
 
 
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This application seeks full planning approval for the erection of 1no, 2-storey, 

4-bed agricultural workers dwelling in association with the existing Hole in the 
Wall Farm, and the formation of an access of Padgett’s Road. 
 

1.2. In order to maintain a sustainable supply of homes FLP policy LP3 seeks to 
restrict growth in areas away from those settlements defined within it. The 
restriction is set out through a strict test which requires a demonstration that 
such development is demonstrably essential for the effective operation of (in 
this case) local agriculture. Such demonstration is assessed via the criteria as 
set out under FLP policy LP12 Part D. 
 

1.3. It is considered that this application fails to demonstrate that the agricultural 
operations warrant an additional permanent dwelling - as the operations are 
not of a scale to justify the nearby presence of an additional full-time 
agricultural worker on-site – the recognised assessment method to determine 
a functional need.  In addition, the application fails to fully consider the 
availability of existing accommodation at the site for occupation by an 
additional rural worker.  Thus, the scheme is contrary to Policy LP3, having 
regard the assessment criteria as set out under LP12 part D (a) – (d). 
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 

 
1.4. In addition, it is considered that the proposed design, scale and massing of 

the intended dwelling, would adversely impact the street scene, settlement 
pattern and landscape character of the area, contrary to Policies LP12 and 
LP16, respectively.   
 

1.5. The application site includes areas within flood zones 1, 2 & 3, with the 
majority of the site (including the area intended to include the dwelling) is 
predominately located within flood zone 2.  There are areas of undeveloped 
land within the existing farm complex that fall within flood zone 1. 
 

1.6. Thus, in the context of the circumstances of this site, notwithstanding any 
functional need (or not) for an additional on-site worker, the application fails to 
address the clearly sequentially preferable land available within the 
agricultural holding itself that lies within flood zone 1, with the capability to 
accommodate a new rural workers’ dwelling.  As such the Sequential Test 
has not been appropriately considered in the context of the proposal and 
wider available land and is therefore considered failed.  As such, it is 
considered that the current scheme is not compliant with Policy LP14. 
 

1.7. The application is therefore recommended for refusal. 
 

 
 

2 SITE DESCRIPTION 
2.1. The application site comprises an area of agricultural land located on the 

west side of Padgett’s Road, south of a group of agricultural farm buildings 
known as Hole in the Wall Farm and two pairs of semi-detached cottages 
known as Hole in the Wall Cottages, comprising a complex of agricultural 
and residential development indicated to be entirely within the applicant’s 
ownership.   
 

2.2. The Hole in the Wall complex includes five residential dwellings, Nos. 1 – 4 
Hole in the Wall Cottages (two modest pairs of semi-detached rural workers 
style cottages) and the Hole in the Wall Farm house (a substantial, detached 
two-storey dwelling) to the centre of the complex.  To the north of the 
complex stands agricultural buildings associated with the farm. 
 

2.3. The application site is located approximately 1.63km south of the built 
framework of Christchurch, within the open countryside.  The site fronts 
Padgett’s Road to the east and is open to the south and west.  To the north 
is No.4 Hole in the Wall cottages, bounded from the site by a mix of post and 
rail and 1.8m closeboarded fencing and hedging. 

 
2.4. Further residential development beyond the Hole in the Wall complex is 

sporadic, with the nearest dwellings known as: Springfields, Willow Farm, 
Poplar Farm and The Old Coach House approximately 20m southeast, 324m 
east, 220m southeast, and 205m southeast, respectively.   

 
2.5. Beyond the site and its immediate surrounds, the area is distinctly open 

agricultural. 
 

Page 40



 

2.6. The site is located in Flood Zones 1, 2 & 3. 
 
 

3 PROPOSAL 
3.1. This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 1no, 2-

storey, 4-bed agricultural workers dwelling in association with the existing 
Hole in the Wall Farm, and the formation of an access off Padgett’s Road. 
 

3.2. The application proposes a substantial dwelling.  The dwelling is intended to 
comprise hallway, living room, open style kitchen/diner/living space, office, 
utility room, shower room, boot room and rear lobby with attached double 
garage and plant room with workshop. 

 
3.3. The upper floor is to include four bedrooms (two en-suite), a master 

bedroom suite with walk in wardrobe, and separate family bathroom.  The 
garage will include a store area and domestic fitness gym over. 

 
3.4. A 4m access driveway is proposed off Padgett’s Road, leading to a 

parking/turning area to serve the dwelling.  The front and rear garden spaces 
are intended to be landscaped and bounded by 1.2m post and rail fencing. 

 
3.5. Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at: 

F/YR24/0161/F | Erect 1 x dwelling (2-storey 4-bed) in association with 
existing farm, and formation of an access | Land South Of 4 Hole In The Wall 
Cottages Padgetts Road Christchurch (fenland.gov.uk) 

 

Page 41



 

4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY 
 

F/YR19/0898/AG1 
Erect an agricultural grain/machinery 
store 
Land North West Of The Hole In The Wall 
Cottages, Padgetts Road, Christchurch 

Further 
Information 
Not Required 
15.11.2019 

F/YR11/0853/F 
Erection of a pig fattening unit 
Land West Of Hole In The Wall Farm, 
Padgetts Road, Christchurch, Cambridgeshire 

Granted 
21.12.2011 

F/YR04/4292/F 

Erection of a part 2-storey and part 
single-storey side extension to existing 
dwelling 
Hole In The Wall Farm Padgetts Road, 
Christchurch, Cambs PE14 9PN 

Granted 
14.01.2005 

F/96/0157/AG1 
Erection of general purpose 
agricultural building  
Hole In The Wall Farm Padgetts Road, 
Christchurch, Cambs PE14 9PN 

Further 
Details Not 
Required 
26.06.1996 

F/0525/82/F 
Erection of a garage block 
Hole In The Wall Farm, Padgetts Road, 
Christchurch, Wisbech, PE14 9PN 

Granted 
16.09.1982 

 
 

5           CONSULTATIONS 
5.1. Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority 

Initially, the Highways Authority objected to the proposed access on the 
basis that visibility splays had not been evidenced.  This information was 
duly provided by the applicant and the following comments were received at 
reconsultation. 
 
I'm content with this latest submission provided it can be conditioned that the 
visibility splays are maintained free from obstruction from a height of at least 
600mm above carriageway level, and that any gates are set back at least 5m 
from the carriageway edge. 
 

5.2. Environment & Health Services (FDC) 
The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information 
and have 'No Objections' to the proposed scheme as it is unlikely to have a 
detrimental effect on local air quality or be affected by ground contamination. 
 
Due to the close proximity of noise sensitive receptors, it is recommended 
that the following condition is imposed in the event that planning permission 
is granted: 
                            
WORKING TIMES 
No construction work shall be carried out and no plant or power operated 
machinery operated other than between the following hours: 08:00 hours 
and 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours and 13:00 hours on 
Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless 
otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 42



 

5.3. Kings Lynn & West Norfolk Borough Council 
Thank you for your consultation in relation to the above planning application.  
The Borough Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk has NO OBJECTION 
to the proposed development. 

 
5.4. Christchurch Parish Council 

The Members of the Parish Council considered this application at their 
recent meeting. 
 
They agreed that the proposed dwelling will provide continuity for one of the 
largest family farms in the Parish by supporting the succession currently 
taking place.  Family farms such as this are a traditional feature of the 
Fenland landscape and play an important role in the local rural economy, 
providing direct employment and supporting other local businesses, as well 
as feeding the nation. 
 
The design of the proposed dwelling fits comfortably alongside the five 
existing dwellings at Hole in the Wall Farm and the remote location 
minimises any potential visual harm or impact on other properties.  Policy 
LP3 states that development elsewhere will be restricted to that which is 
demonstrably essential to the effective operation of local agriculture, and this 
is clearly the case in respect of this application. 
 
Members resolved to offer this application their full support. 

 
5.5. Councillor D Roy 

Having read through the documentation and the importance of farming in 
Fenland, it is vital that this application is supported as farms of this nature 
are in decline. 
 
I fully support that owners need to live in close proximity to be able to sustain 
farms of this type. I would support this application in full. 

 
5.6. Local Residents/Interested Parties  

The LPA received 8 letters of support for the scheme from address points 
local to the site within Christchurch, and from the adjacent ward.  Reasons 
for support for the scheme can be summarised as: 
 

• Important for farmers to live close to land/livestock for increased 
security, and animal welfare; 

• Unsociable hours means sensible for proprietors to live on site; 
• Dwelling will complement the area and be of high quality and design; 
• On-site living will allow the business to flourish; 
• No negative impact on local residents or character of the area; 
• No ecological/environmental impacts; 
• No negative impact on the highway; 
• Asset to the local area and parish; 
• No fault with submitted agricultural appraisal; 
• Will enable occupants to respond to the weather on site immediately. 

 
 
 

Page 43



 

6 STATUTORY DUTY  
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 

planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development 
Plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The 
Development Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the 
adopted Fenland Local Plan (2014). 

 
 

7 POLICY FRAMEWORK  
7.1. National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

Para. 2 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not 
change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision-making.  
Para. 47 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 83 - . housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities.  
Para. 84 - Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of 
isolated homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following 
circumstances apply: a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, 
including those taking majority control of a farm business, to live 
permanently at or near their place of work in the countryside; 
Para. 115 - . Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 
Para. 135 - Planning policies and decisions should achieve well-designed 
places  
Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  

  
7.2. National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  

Determining a Planning Application  
7.3.  National Design Guide 2021  

  
7.4. Fenland Local Plan 2014  

LP1 – A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
LP2 – Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
LP3 – Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  
LP12 – Rural Areas Development Policy  
LP14 – Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding  
LP15 – Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network  
LP16 – Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments  
LP19 – The Natural Environment  

  
7.5. Emerging Local Plan  

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 
25th August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be 
reviewed and any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the 

Page 44



 

draft Local Plan.  Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it 
is considered, in accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the 
policies of this should carry extremely limited weight in decision making. Of 
relevance to this application are policies:  

  
LP1:  Settlement Hierarchy  
LP2:  Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
LP7:  Design  
LP8:  Amenity Provision  
LP18: Development in the Countryside  
LP22: Parking Provision  
LP32: Flood and Water Management  

  
7.6. Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 

2014  
DM3 – Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and 
Character  

  
7.7. Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016   

  
 

8 KEY ISSUES 
• Principle of Development 
• Demonstration of essential need 
• Character and Appearance 
• Highways and Access 
• Residential Amenity 

 
 

9 ASSESSMENT 
Principle of Development 

9.1. The site lies within an area of dispersed, intermittent buildings that are 
detached from the main settlement of Christchurch and comprises a parcel 
of land currently in use for arable agriculture. 
 

9.2. Consequently, as the site is considered to fall outside of a settlement it is 
therefore defined as an ‘Elsewhere’ location under FLP policy LP3; which 
seeks to restrict development to that which is demonstrably essential to the 
effective operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor 
recreation, transport or utility services.  The NPPF supports the principle of 
sustainable rural housing where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities, and sustainable economic growth in rural locations - where 
appropriate i.e. the right development in the right location, and it is 
considered that the requirements of policy LP3 are wholly consistent with the 
NPPF in this regard. 

 
9.3. The application comes forward as a proposal for residential accommodation 

to serve an existing agricultural enterprise. Therefore, the principle of the 
development is accepted through LP3, which amongst others, supports the 
farming community and agricultural development, and recognises that in 
certain circumstances it is necessary to locate dwellings in otherwise 
unsustainable locations. But this allowance is subject to meeting (where 
residential development is concerned) the strict test of demonstrating an 

Page 45



 

essential need. FLP policy LP12-Part D sets out the requirements as to how 
this essential need will be demonstrated. 
 
Demonstration of essential need 

9.4. Policy LP12 Part D relates specifically to the development proposed and 
sets out that applications of this nature should provide supporting evidence 
to explain the following; 
(a) The existing functional need for the dwelling, 
(b) The number of part time and full-time worker(s) to live in the dwelling, 
(c) The length of time the activity has been established, 
(d) The financial viability of the enterprise, 
(e) The availability of other suitable accommodation on site or in the area, 
(f) How the proposed size of the dwelling relates to the viability of the 

 enterprise. 
 

9.5. The application is supported by an Agricultural Appraisal which provides the 
background to the applicant, the current and future business plans and 
predicted business growth (financial details are held as confidential items). 
The appraisal document also provides information on the agricultural holding 
as a whole and how this relates to the overall function and viability of the 
enterprise. 
 

9.6. The Council has used the services of an agricultural consultant, Kernon 
Countryside Consultants Limited, to review the outline business case and 
provide an assessment of the demonstration for essential need. 

 
9.7. The submitted appraisal outlines that the applicant’s objective is  

“…to construct a permanent dwelling on the holding to accommodate William 
and his anticipated family so that they can meet the increasing demand for 
24-hour site supervision and security as well as being available to meet the 
welfare demands of the pig enterprise and administer both livestock and 
crop husbandry requirements which often includes unsociable hours.” (Para 
4.2, Agricultural Appraisal, Cheffins) 
 
Existing enterprise 

9.8. The main operations themselves currently comprises arable farming of 
various parcels of land around the Christchurch and Manea areas, totalling 
552ha, which in itself is a viable enterprise.  In addition, the applicant also 
operates a pig ‘bed and breakfast’ enterprise, where the business provides 
the buildings and labour with the pigs and feed supplied by another. In this 
instance, Hole in the Wall Farm provide welfare, feed and watering, 
medication as necessary and maintaining stock health whilst the animals 
reside at the farm, although do not own the livestock themselves.  The 
applicant has advised that both the arable and livestock enterprises demand 
a high level of unsociable hours to be worked on the holding and there is, in 
their opinion, an essential need for 24 hour supervision to manage and 
maintain welfare standards of the pigs kept and to ensure security of the 
farm is maintained.  It is proffered that a second dwelling will allow for some 
of the responsibility to be relieved from the applicant as he approaches 
retirement age and permit his son, a key worker within the existing business, 
to provide the essential cover and support to his parents and family and be 
onsite in the event of emergencies. 

Page 46



 

 
9.9. Having regard to the arable side of the enterprise, it is well-established that 

arable farming rarely justifies an essential, functional need for a full-time 
worker to be present at the site on a permanent, round the clock basis1. This 
is notwithstanding that the arable enterprise, in any case, covers a wide area 
with detached parcels of arable land spread over a wide radius from the 
application site therefore meaning an on-site presence could not reasonably 
be expected to monitor the entire holding. 

 
9.10. Furthermore, the Council’s consultant has assessed the current arable 

enterprise, concluding that unsociable hours and inclement or changeable 
weather is not sufficient justification to warrant an additional on-site worker. 

 
9.11. Whilst Planning Policy Statements were withdrawn following the publication 

of the NPPF in 2012, the information contained within Annex A of PPS7 is, in 
the main, still applicable as guidance. This states “where livestock or 
agricultural processes require essential care at short notice.”  As such, when 
considering the livestock enterprise at the site, a functional need could arise.   

 
9.12. It is accepted that some livestock enterprises require supervision at certain 

periods and providing for the care and welfare of housed pigs and/or piglets 
is an activity that could give rise to a functional requirement for a worker to 
be readily available at most times, dependent on the scale of the enterprise. 
The functional test applied here, is whether it is essential for the proper 
functioning of the enterprise for one or more workers to be readily available 
at most times. 

 
9.13. The livestock enterprise currently undertaken includes ‘room and board’ for 

pigs in batches of 1,050 aged approximately 7 weeks old, which are reared 
up to appropriate slaughter weights over a period of around 20 weeks.  The 
policy test set out in LP12 part D (a) is whether there is “an existing 
functional need for the dwelling”. For a functional need to be established, the 
enterprise from which the functional need is derived must equate to a full-
time worker. 

 
9.14. The Council’s consultant has assessed the current livestock enterprise and 

tasks involved in its maintenance, concluding that the applicant’s justification 
regarding the loading/unloading of pigs, despite these potentially taking 
place during an unsociable hours, is part and parcel of the tasks of 
maintaining such an enterprise.  However, in respect of animal welfare and 
given the number of pigs that are being housed on site, there is a functional 
requirement for one on-site worker although the need for a second on-site 
worker is, at best, marginal.  In response to the figures provided by the 
applicant with respect to the number of operatives required, it should be 
noted that labour calculation figures do not calculate the number of workers 
that need to live on site, they instead indicate the number of workers that are 
merely required to operate the enterprise. In most cases some of these 
workers can live off-site. 

 
 

 
1 APP/F2630/W/17/3174429, APP/N0410/W/19/3226363, APP/L2630/W/19/3223110, 

APP/W1850/W/20/3251167, APP/V2635/W/19/3242691, APP/Q3115/W/17/3175806 

Page 47

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3174429
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3226363
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3223110
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3251167
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3242691
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?caseid=3175806


 

Existing dwellings 
9.15. Given the above assessment, and the fact that the site is currently occupied 

by one on-site worker, which is justified in respect of the current enterprise 
requirements, it is considered that a second permanent on-site presence 
would be desirable rather than essential for the proper functioning of the 
enterprise.  The policy test under LP3 sets out an ‘essential’ need. 
 

9.16. Notwithstanding, it is noted that the applicant’s agricultural appraisal 
indicates that there is only one existing residential property on the farm.  
However, it is understood that Nos.1 & 2 Hole in the Wall Cottages, adjacent 
to the existing farm, are owned by PJ Farms Ltd, the applicant’s enterprise.  
Thus, given the number of existing dwellings already proven to be within the 
ownership of the farm (at least three), it was considered unnecessary to 
formally investigate the ownership of Nos. 3 & 4 through Land Registry 
searches, as doing so would have been at the Council’s expense.  
Nonetheless, it remains that, Nos. 3 & 4 may also be owned by the farm, 
which would bring the available total up to five.   

 
9.17. Whilst the applicant’s agricultural appraisal did consider, and ultimately 

discounted, available alternative housing within Christchurch and Welney, 
the application is silent with respect to the availability of the Hole in the Wall 
Cottages Nos. 1-4.  Therefore, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, 
the existing dwellings at the site are considered to have the potential to be 
occupied by farm workers.   

 
9.18. The application seeks consent for a at least a fourth (possibly a sixth) 

dwelling at the site.  However, given that there in only a clear need for one 
on-site worker, with a marginal need for a second, it follows that 
accommodation may seemingly be met by existing accommodation within 
the farm complex and thus a functional need for additional accommodation 
to be built at the site is not warranted. 

 
9.19. Having regard to the existing scale of the business, the potential options to 

utilise existing accommodation within the farm complex (which hasn’t been 
fully explored and evidenced by the applicant) and the lack of essential need 
for a second worker to reside permanently at the application site, the 
proposal is considered to conflict with Policy LP3, having regard the 
assessment criteria as set out under LP12 part D (a), (b), (c)  and (d) and 
would therefore result in the unwarranted introduction of a dwelling in an 
otherwise unsustainable location. 
 
Character and Appearance 

9.20. Policy LP16 seeks to ensure development makes a positive contribution to 
the local distinctiveness and character of the area, responding to and 
improving the character of the area, reinforcing local identity and does not 
either in design or scale terms, adversely impact on the street scene, 
settlement pattern or landscape character of the area.  It is also a core 
planning principle in the NPPF that recognises the intrinsic value of the 
countryside therefore consideration needs to be given to any harm caused. 
Further to the necessary criteria in respect to the functional need for 
development in elsewhere locations, Policy LP12 seeks to ensure that 

Page 48



 

development respects the character and appearance of the surrounding 
countryside and farmland. 
 

9.21. The application site is currently undeveloped arable farmland, and forms part 
of the wider countryside landscape within the area.  Clearly, therefore, any 
development on this land would have impact to the overall open countryside 
character by bringing a residential urbanisation to this parcel of land. 

 
9.22. Paying heed to the existing street scene, the Hole in the Wall Cottages 

adjacent to the site are modest, semi-detached dwellings.  At 2-storey, with 
minimal side extensions, the cottages are of simple, traditional design with 
gable rooflines and a shared central chimney, reflective of typical Fenland 
rural worker’s style dwellings of their time.  Both pairs, cumulatively, 
comprise a total footprint of approximately 185m². 

 
9.23. Between the pairs, comprising Nos.1 & 2 to the north and Nos. 3 & 4 to the 

south, is an undeveloped area of maintained grassland approximately 16.5m 
wide.  Behind these cottages, within the centre of the Hole in the Wall farm 
complex, is the original farmhouse, which is predominately shielded from 
view save for glimpses through this undeveloped gap and along existing 
accesses into the farm.  Given this screening, the street scene as viewed 
from Padgett’s Road includes, predominately the modest existing pairs of 
cottages. 
 

9.24. The proposed dwelling is substantial, comprising a footprint of circa 340m² 
(including the garage), equating to a footprint approximately 85% larger than 
the combined total of all four cottages already contained within the farm 
complex.   

 
9.25. The existing cottages reach a ridge height of approx. 7.8m, and Nos. 3 & 4, 

nearest the application site, comprise a total width of approx. 16m.  The 
proposed dwelling has been designed to reach a comparable height to that 
of the cottages, at 7.8m.  However, the overall width of the main dwelling 
(not including the garage) will span approximately 18.9m, when considered 
cumulatively within the street scene the dwelling to include the garage will 
span approximately 26m.  Accordingly, whilst the height of the proposed 
dwelling is the same and it is noted that the intended dwelling will be set 
back from the existing cottage building line, the overall width of the proposed 
dwelling (at approximately 10m wider than the pair of adjacent cottages 
combined) will result in an overall scale and massing that will dominate the 
street scene. 

 
9.26. Furthermore, the proposed dwelling is intended to include front gable 

projections flanking a central pitched roof covered porch, with additional 
gable side projection linking to a forward projecting garage perpendicular to 
the main dwelling.  Given these design details, it is considered that the 
scheme is of a form more urban in nature, which will be entirely incongruous 
against the backdrop of the adjacent more utilitarian and traditional farm 
cottages and other modest dwellings nearby. 

 
9.27. Materials have not been specified, but the submitted documents suggest 

external brick, timber cladding, and uPVC windows to be utilised which 

Page 49



 

appear, in the context of the submitted plans, to not reflect the appearance 
of the adjacent cottages, however this could be mitigated through an 
appropriate materials condition.   

 
9.28. Given the above, it is considered that by virtue of the overall location, it is 

clear that the scheme does not respect the character and appearance of the 
surrounding countryside and farmland as the intended location would bring 
about a distinct urbanisation of existing open agricultural land.  In addition, 
owing to the proposed design, scale and massing of the proposed dwelling, 
the street scene, settlement pattern and landscape character of the area will 
be adversely impacted and dominated by the introduction of an incongruous 
and sizeable dwelling, contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16, respectively.   

 
9.29. This conclusion is supported by the Council’s consultant, whom on 

considering the overall siting and size of the proposed dwelling, concludes: 
“In our opinion the dwelling is significantly larger than what could be 
considered appropriate as a rural workers’ dwelling.”  Moreover, it is worthy 
of note that the applicant’s submission does not appear to have considered 
an arguably more appropriate siting for any new rural workers dwelling on 
the 16m wide swathe of undeveloped land between the existing cottage 
pairs.  It is proffered that this is suitably sized to accommodate an 
appropriately sized rural workers’ dwelling, comparable to the existing 
cottages, and could be a more suitable location, closer to the existing farm 
buildings, which would offer more opportunity for occupants to be readily 
available to identify any problems that may arise, particularly with respect to 
animal welfare. 

 
Highways and Access 

9.30. Following initial concerns by the Highways Authority (HA) that visibility 
splays were not sufficiently evidenced, revised access arrangements were 
submitted by the applicant demonstrating that appropriate visibility could be 
achieved in accordance with HA requirements.  The HA has assessed the 
revised application and raises no objection to the proposal, subject to 
conditions securing the delivery of the access  and the retention of off-road 
parking areas. 
 

9.31. In this regard, the application presents no technical issues with regards to 
highways impacts and would comply with FLP policy LP15. 
 
Residential Amenity 

9.32. The dwelling is sited sufficiently away from neighbouring boundaries so as 
not to result in any overshadowing or overbearing issues. Furthermore, 
windows are located to avoid any unacceptable overlooking. The dwelling 
therefore presents  no relationship issues with adjacent properties. 
 

9.33. It is noted that there may be some limited impacts to amenity that occur as a 
result of the proposed construction of the dwelling.  However, the 
recommendation by the Environmental Health team regarding construction 
working hours is considered unreasonable to impose given the quantum of 
development proposed and given any disruptions would be a temporary 
inconvenience.   

 

Page 50



 

9.34. Notwithstanding, if planning consent is granted, this would not indemnify 
against statutory nuisance action being taken in the event that the 
Environmental Health team received a substantiated complaint(s) regarding 
issues pertaining to the creation of noise, emissions, pollution, 
contamination, odour, dust, vibration, etc from the proposed development. 

 
Flood Risk 

9.35. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and chapter 14 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework set out the policy approach towards 
development in areas of flood risk. Both of these policies seek to encourage 
development first within areas of lower flood risk, before considering 
development in areas at higher risk of flooding.  
 

9.36. The application site includes areas within flood zones 1, 2 & 3, with the 
majority of the site (including the area intended to include the dwelling) is 
predominately located within flood zone 2.   
 

9.37. It is for the applicant to demonstrate through an assessment that the 
Sequential Test has been met.   

 
9.38. It is acknowledged that the application seeks a new on-site rural worker’s 

dwelling.  In this vein, the application has been accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment that includes a section relating to the Sequential Test which 
justifies the development in this flood zone succinctly, as follows: 

 
The dwelling provides accommodation for a key agricultural worker. The 
dwelling is proposed adjacent to the main farm on its southern side so not to 
constrain the potential for growth of the farm. The development is considered 
to pass the Sequential Test. 

 
9.39. However, the flood risk assessment and Sequential Test fails to 

acknowledge that a significant part of the existing farm complex, including 
the main farm house and considerable land surrounding, along with the 
existing cottage dwellings, and the area of undeveloped land between the 
cottage pairs, all within the applicant’s ownership, falls within flood zone 1.  
Accordingly, in the context of the circumstances of this site, notwithstanding 
any need (or not) for the agricultural worker to reside on the site, there is 
sequentially preferable land available within the agricultural holding itself to 
accommodate a new rural worker’s dwelling.  As such, given the argument 
that the applicant considers there to be a functional need for a new dwelling 
at the site,  the Sequential Test has not been appropriately considered in the 
context of the proposal and wider available land and is therefore considered 
failed.   
 

9.40. In February 2018, the Council amended the approach to agreeing the scope 
of the Sequential Test to a settlement by settlement basis, other than 
development in the countryside where the whole district would then be the 
area of search. As the development is located outside a defined settlement, 
the area of search should be district wide.  It has been established above 
that there is no functional need for a rural worker’s dwelling at the site, and 
as such a district wide area of search for the purposes of the Sequential Test 

Page 51



 

is applicable.  The Sequential Test is therefore also considered failed on this 
basis. 

 
9.41. In line with the guidance set out within the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water 

SPD, it is not necessary for the scheme to address the Exception Test.   
However, details within the submitted Design and Access statement suggest 
that the development would include an air source heat pump, solar panels, 
and be highly insulated.  A condition to secure these energy efficiency 
measures could be imposed should the application be approved. 
 

9.42. In addition, the submitted FRA outlines proposed flood mitigation measures 
for the site, including raised finished floor levels and flood resilient 
construction that address the need for safety in times of flooding, specific to 
the site itself.  These are considered acceptable in the context of the scheme 
itself in relation to site specific flood safety measures which may address the 
development being safe from flooding for its lifetime, subject to these being 
secured by condition. 

 
9.43. Notwithstanding any flood mitigation or energy efficiency measures provided 

at the site, the evidence submitted has failed to fully demonstrate that there 
are no sequentially preferable sites that could accommodate a rural worker’s 
dwelling, neither within the current agricultural holding or elsewhere, and 
thus the proposal has failed the Sequential Test.  As such, it is considered 
that the current scheme is not compliant with Policy LP14 and should be 
refused. 

 
10 CONCLUSIONS 
10.1. The above assessment concludes that the functional need for an additional 

agricultural workers dwelling at the site has not been established, contrary to 
the requirements of Policy LP3 and Policy LP12.  In addition, the proposed 
scheme is of a scale and massing incongruous with the surrounding 
streetscene and would impact the open countryside character of the area 
contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16.  Furthermore, evidence has not been 
advanced to consider a more sequentially preferable siting of the proposed 
dwelling in an area of lesser flood risk within the existing agricultural 
complex, contrary to Policy LP14.  

 
10.2. As such, notwithstanding technical matters regarding highway safety and 

residential amenity being acceptable, the application is recommended for 
refusal on the basis of the policy contraventions discussed above. 

 
11 RECOMMENDATION 

 
Refuse; for the following reasons: 
 
1 To promote sustainable development in rural areas, Policy LP3 

of the Fenland Local Plan, 2014 (FLP) seeks to restrict 
development in areas outside of settlements to that which is 
demonstrably essential for the effective operation of land-based 
enterprise e.g. agriculture. This demonstration is determined 
through the criteria as set out under FLP policy LP12 Part D.  
 
The proposal is for the erection of a new dwelling associated 

Page 52



 

with an established agricultural enterprise. However, the 
application fails to adequately demonstrate an essential, 
functional need for a full-time worker to be readily available at 
most times at or near to the site. This is contrary to the criteria of 
LP12 Part D and therefore conflicts with policy LP3 of the 
Fenland Local Plan, 2014 as the proposal would result in the 
unwarranted erection of a dwelling in an otherwise unsustainable 
location. 
 

2 Policy LP16 seeks to ensure development makes a positive 
contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the 
area, and does not, either in design or scale terms, adversely 
impact on the street scene, settlement pattern or landscape 
character of the area.  Policy LP12 seeks to ensure that 
development respects the character and appearance of the 
surrounding countryside and farmland. 
 
By virtue of the siting of the proposed dwelling, the scheme does 
not respect the character and appearance of the surrounding 
countryside and farmland as development on this land would 
result in a distinct urbanisation of existing open and undeveloped 
agricultural land.  Furthermore, the proposed design, scale and 
massing of the proposed dwelling, will adversely impact and 
dominate the existing street scene, settlement pattern and 
landscape character of the area, contrary to Policies LP12 and 
LP16. 
 

3 Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and section 14 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) require development 
proposals to adopt a sequential approach to flood risk from all 
forms of flooding, and Policy LP14 states that development in an 
area known to be at risk will only be permitted following the 
successful completion of a Sequential Test.  
 
The submitted Flood Risk Assessment only considers the 
development in the context of the need for an agricultural 
workers dwelling on the site. As it has been assessed that there 
is no such agricultural need the sequential test should cover a 
wider, agreed, geographical area as set out within the 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD (2016). Even if it were to 
be accepted that there is an essential need for an additional 
dwelling on site, the application fails to acknowledge that a 
significant area of the existing farm complex, all within the 
applicant’s ownership, fall within an area of lesser flood risk than 
the application site, and therefore fails to fully identify land 
available within more appropriate areas at the site in the context 
of providing accommodation for an on-site worker.  The test is 
therefore considered to be failed and the proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), 
Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 
 

 

Page 53



Page 54



P
age 55



P
age 56



P
age 57



P
age 58



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
F/YR24/0254/PIP 
 
Applicant:  Mr Brownlow & Ms Davies 
 
 

Agent :  Mr R Papworth 
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd 

 
Brownlows Yard, 400 Creek Road, March, Cambridgeshire   
 
Permission in principle to erect up to 9 x dwellings 
 
Officer recommendation: Refuse 
 
Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to recommendation 
 
 
Government Planning Guarantee 
Statutory Target Date For Determination: 25 April 2024 

EOT in Place: Yes 
EOT Expiry: 14 August 2024 

Application Fee: £5030 
Risk Statement:  
This application must be determined by 14 August 2024 otherwise it will be out of 
time and therefore negatively affect the performance figures. 
 
 
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1  This application is for permission in principle for up to nine dwellings and is 

subject to the Town and Country Planning (Permission in Principle) 
(Amendment) Order 2017.  

 
1.2   The scope of permission in principle is limited to location, land use and amount 

of development.  
 
1.3   The proposed development would be located within an area of high and medium 

risk of surface water flooding. 
 
1.4   By virtue of its location and land use, within an area of high and medium risk of 

surface water flooding, and its failure to pass the Sequential Test, the proposed 
development would have unacceptable surface water flood risks, contrary to 
policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, policies LP4, LP14 and LP16 
of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, paragraph 168 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, paragraph 023 of National Planning Practice Guidance and Section 
4 of the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water Supplementary Planning Document. It 
is therefore considered that the location and land use of the proposed 
development are not acceptable. 

 
1.5   During the course of the application, the Officers have provided the agent with 

the opportunity to explore alternative options for the site which would avoid 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



siting development within the area of high and medium risk of surface water 
flooding, such as relocating the proposed access. However, the agent has 
confirmed that they wish to proceed with the current proposal. 

 
1.6 In view of the unresolved flood risk and associated conflicts with the 

development plan, the application is recommended for refusal. 
 

 
 

2 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 

2.1 The site is located on the north side of Creek Road, on the northern edge of 
March. The site is located between existing residential built form, located to the 
north-east, east and south-west.  
 

2.2 The site is located within Flood Zone 1 (an area with low probability of river or sea 
flooding). The application site, however, contains areas of high, medium and low 
risk of surface water flooding.  
 

2.3 The site comprises partly brownfield land accommodating multiple businesses and 
partly greenfield agricultural land. Within the brownfield land, there are commercial 
buildings and land being used for the storage of commercial and building materials, 
vehicles and a caravan.  
 

2.4 The lawful use of the brownfield land has been established through planning 
permission ref: F/99/0324/F, which granted planning permission for: 
‘Use of the site for car repairs and servicing; joinery workshop and showroom; 
manufacture and sale of concrete products; storage of building materials and plant 
involving erection of buildings; the use and extension of existing buildings and 
stationing of 2 no. portacabins and 8 no. storage bins.’ 
 
 

3 PROPOSAL 
 

3.1    The application seeks permission in principle to erect up to nine dwellings.  
 

3.2    Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at: 
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activ
eTab=documents&keyVal=SAFRSEHE0D800 

Page 62

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SAFRSEHE0D800
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=SAFRSEHE0D800


 
4 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
Application reference: Proposal: Decision: 
F/YR23/0528/F Erect 6no dwellings (2-

storey, 4-bed) involving 
the demolition of existing 
outbuilding and 
associated works 
including formation of 
accesses, widening of 
Creek Road and 
formation of a footpath 

Pending consideration 

F/YR22/1112/PIP Residential development 
of up to 4 dwellings 
(application for 
Permission in Principle) 

Granted 11.11.2022 

F/YR04/3634/O Erection of a dwelling Refused 24.08.2004 
F/99/0324/F Use of the site for car 

repairs and servicing; 
joinery workshop and 
showroom; manufacture 
and sale of concrete 
products; storage of 
building materials and 
plant involving erection of 
buildings; the use and 
extension of existing 
buildings and stationing 
of 2 no. portacabins and 
8 no. storage bins 

Granted 09.04.2001 

F/91/0008/O Residential Development 
(0.29 ha) 

Refused 29.05.1991 

F/0670/88/O Residential development 
- 0.315 ha 

Refused 08.09.1988 

F/0049/83/O Erection of an agricultural 
bungalow 

Refused 17.03.1983 

F/0169/80/O Residential development 
- approximately 1.2 acres 

Refused 26.03.1980 

F/0941/79/O Residential development 
(approx. 6.54 acres) 

Refused 10.01.1980 

Off-site planning history: 
F/YR22/1414/PIP 

Residential development 
of up to 3 dwellings 
(application for 
Permission in Principle) 

Granted 01.02.2023 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



 
 
5 CONSULTATIONS 

 
5.1    Councillor Tim Taylor [Received 26th March 2024] 

 
I have to recommend refusal on the above application.  
Our drainage catchment is at capacity to deal with anymore surface water. Thus 
allowing anymore developments will potentially have catastrophic consequences 
with potential flooding within Fenland. 
 

5.2    March Town Council [Received 9th April 2024] 
 
Recommendation; Approval  
*The Town Council hopes that a s106 will be required as per the Neighbourhood 
Plan, given that the total number of dwellings to be delivered by the developer 
shall exceed ten. Continuing concerns over flooding. 
 

5.3    Local Highway Authority [Received 17th April 2024] 
 
The Local Highway Authority raises no objections to the principal [sic] of the 
proposed development. However, there are some mitigation works required on the 
highway to facilitate this development:  
 

•   A footway would need to be included along Creek Road this should be 2m 
in width (a min of 1.8m will only be accepted if 2m cannot be 
accommodated) this must join the existing footway to the west. The 
submitted drawing refers to a proposed footway arrangement on another 
application for this site F/YR23/0528/F. This cannot be considered part of 
this application and must be shown as part of this application should the 
applicant want it to be considered as part of the site mitigation works.  

 
Additional Comments 

 
•   The access vehicle layout as shown on the submitted drawing would be 

suitable for a development of this size. 
•   There is a posted speed limit of 30mph along creek Road therefore the 

visibility splays shown are correct. 
•   The internal arrangement is not being considered as part of this application. 

However, I can confirm that this is not laid-out to an adoptable standard as 
there is no residential dwellings directly accessed from the road and there is 
no turning head included. 

 
5.4    Fenland District Council Environmental Health [Received 8th April 2024] 

 
The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and 
have ‘no objection’ to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a detrimental effect on 
local air quality.  
 
However, in the event that Permission in Principle (PIP) is granted and a further 
application for the site is submitted in the future, given the brownfield nature of this 
site resulting from previous and current commercial/industrial use I recommend 
the following condition be applied:‐  
 
Land affected by Contamination  

Page 64



 
No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a 
contaminated land assessment and associated remedial strategy, being submitted 
to the LPA and receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA. This 
applies to paragraphs a), b) and c). This is an iterative process, and the results of 
each stage will help decide if the following stage is necessary.  
 
(a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk study to be submitted 
to the LPA for approval. The desk study shall detail the history of the site uses, the 
proposed site usage, and include a conceptual model. The site investigation 
strategy will be based on the relevant information discovered by the desk study. 
The strategy shall be approved by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on 
site.  
 
(b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater 
sampling, shall be carried out by a suitable qualified and accredited 
consultant/contractor in accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology.  
 
(c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of the analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a 
proposed remediation strategy shall be submitted to the LPA. The LPA shall 
approve such remedial works as required prior to any remediation commencing on 
site. The works shall be of such a nature as to render harmless the identified 
contamination given the proposed end use of the site and surrounding 
environment including any controlled waters. No development approved by this 
permission shall be occupied prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of approval of the 
document/documents from the LPA. This applies to paragraphs d), e) and f).  
 
(d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality 
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology 
and best practice  
 
(e) If, during the works, contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the LPA.  
 
(f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a 
validation/closure report has been submitted to and approved by the LPA. The 
closure report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and quality 
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in 
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post‐remedial sampling 
and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean‐up criteria shall be 
included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation detailing 
what waste materials have been removed from site, and what has been brought 
on to site.  
 
Reason: To control pollution of land or water in the interests of the environment 
and public safety.  
 
Given the close proximity of residential property and what looks like demolition as 
well as construction activities associated with this development I recommend the 
following condition be applied.    
 

Page 65



Working Hours  
 
No demolition or construction work shall be carried out and no plant or power 
operated machinery operated other than between the following hours: 08:00 hours 
and 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours and 13:00 hours on Saturday 
and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless otherwise previously 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the nearby occupiers.  
 
I also note that there are three more residential developments with PIP approval 
associated with a further 9 houses to the south of this site.  Given the extent of the 
development when taking this and the other three developments together I would 
advise that in the event of an application/s being made it is likely that a condition 
requiring a CEMP, as follows, would be recommended.  
 
Construction Environmental Management Plan  
 
No development shall take place, including any demolition works, until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 
then approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CEMP 
shall be adhered to throughout the demolition and/or construction period and must 
demonstrate the adoption of best practice to reduce the potentially adverse effects 
on those living and working nearby the development site, whilst also 
acknowledging the health, safety and welfare of those working on site. The CEMP 
should be in accordance with the template on the Fenland District Council website 
via the following link: Planning forms, fees and validation checklists ‐ Fenland 
District Council  
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the nearby occupiers. 
 

5.5    Cambridgeshire County Council Archaeology [Received 2nd April 2024] 
 
I am writing with regards to the archaeological implications of the above refenced 
planning application. The proposed development is in an area of high 
archaeological potential to the northwest of March. Just to north of the proposed 
development is the route of the Fen Causeway, a major Roman route that 
connects settlements within the fen (CHER CB15033). To the North, East and 
South, significant cropmarks have been recorded indicated field system, Romand 
settlement and further routeways (CHER 08974, 08974, 08974).  
 
Whilst we do not object to the principle of development in this location, we would 
anticipate that a programme of archaeological investigation would be necessary in 
advance of any works commencing in order to mitigate the impacts of 
development, and would expect that this would be secured at Technical Details 
application stage. 
 

5.6    Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Nine representations have been received in support of the application from local 
residents / interested parties. Eight representations are from residents of March 
(1x Creek Road, 1x Wisbech Road, 1x Upwell Road, 1x Nursery Drive, 1x Maple 
Grove, 1x Robingoodfellows Lane, 1x Alexander Gardens and 1x Monument View) 
and one representation is from a resident of Wimblington (New Woods Drive). 
Comments relating to material planning considerations are summarised below: 

Page 66



• New housing is much needed within the local area. 
• Utilising a brownfield site has to be a priority in the approach to FDC 

attaining the number of properties to meet local needs. 
• It would bring new people to the area. 
• Suitable location for new houses.  
• The area isn’t already overdeveloped. There is space for development. 
• Great to see nice looking places on a nice cul-de-sac location. 
• The area looks a mess as it is. The current land is overgrown and wasted so 

any development will enhance the area. 
• It would boost the economy, population and town. Hopefully infrastructure 

will be well though through and executed. 
• No objections have been received from local residents / interested parties. 

 
 
6 STATUTORY DUTY  
 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 

planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
for the purposes of this application comprises the March Neighbourhood Plan 
2017, the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021. 

 
 
7 POLICY FRAMEWORK 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)   
National Design Guide 2021  
  
March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 
 H2 – Windfall Development 
H3 –  Local Housing Need  
 
Fenland Local Plan 2014  
LP1 –  A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
LP2 –  Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
LP3 –  Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  
LP5 –  Meeting Housing Need  
LP6 –  Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail  
LP9 –  March  
LP13 – Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District  
LP14 – Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in  
  Fenland  
LP15 – Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in  
  Fenland  
LP16 – Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District  
LP17 – Community Safety  
LP19 – The Natural Environment  
  
Emerging Local Plan 
The Draft Fenland Local Plan 2022 was published for consultation between 25th 
August 2022 and 19 October 2022. All comments received will be reviewed and 
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.  
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in 

Page 67



accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry 
extremely limited weight in decision-making. Of relevance to this application are 
policies:  
LP1:   Settlement Hierarchy  
LP2:   Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
LP4:   Securing Fenland’s Future  
LP5:   Health and Wellbeing  
LP7:   Design  
LP8:   Amenity Provision  
LP11:  Community Safety  
LP12:  Meeting Housing Needs  
LP15:  Employment  
LP19:  Strategic Infrastructure  
LP20:  Accessibility and Transport  
LP22:  Parking Provision  
LP24:  Natural Environment  
LP28:  Landscape  
LP32:  Flood and Water Management  
 
Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014  
DM3 –  Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of 

the Area  
DM6 –  Mitigating Against Harmful Effects  
  
Developer Contributions SPD 2015  
  
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016   
  
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021  
  
 

8 KEY ISSUES 
 

• Background 
• Principle of development  
• Flood risk 
• Character and appearance of the area 
• Loss of employment land 
• Other matters 

 
 
9 BACKGROUND 
 
9.1 This application is for permission in principle and is subject to the Town and 

Country Planning (Permission in Principle) (Amendment) Order 2017.  
 

9.2 The permission in principle consent route is an alternative way of obtaining 
planning permission for housing-led development which separates the 
consideration of matters of principle for proposed development from the technical 
detail of the development.  
 

9.3 The permission in principle consent route has two stages: the first stage (or 
permission in principle stage) establishes whether a site is suitable in-principle and 
the second (‘technical details consent’) stage is when the detailed development 
proposals are assessed.  

Page 68



 
9.4 A grant of permission in principle alone would not constitute a grant of planning 

permission. In the event of permission in principle being granted, a separate 
application for technical details consent would need to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

9.5 The scope of permission in principle is limited to location, land use and amount of 
development. Issues relevant to these ‘in principle’ matters should be considered 
at the permission in principle stage. Other matters should be considered at the 
technical details consent stage.  
 

9.6 A decision on whether to grant permission in principle must be made in 
accordance with relevant policies in the development plan unless there are 
material considerations, including those in the National Planning Policy Framework 
and national guidance, which indicate otherwise. 

 
10 ASSESSMENT 
 
10.1 Issues relevant to the ‘in principle’ matters (location, land use and amount of 

development) are considered within the assessment of relevant material planning 
considerations, below. 

 
         Principle of development 
 
10.2 Following several recent decisions by the Council to grant residential development 

in the vicinity it is considered that the proposed development would be located 
partly within, and partly on the edge of, the settlement of March, which is one of 
Fenland’s four market towns.  
 

10.3 Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan supports proposals for residential 
development where they meet the provisions of the Fenland Local Plan and where, 
inter alia, the following criteria is met: 
• The site is at a low risk of flooding (i.e. not within land designated Flood Zone 2 

or 3 by the Environment Agency) and will not create flooding problems on or 
off-site, including problems associated with surface water run-off. Development 
within flood zones 2 and 3 will only be considered where appropriate 
sequential and exception tests have been met. 

 
10.4 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 (the Local Plan) states that the majority 

of the district’s new housing should take place within Fenland’s four market towns. 
 

10.5 Policy LP4 of the Local Plan states that for small scale housing proposals within, or 
on the edge of market towns, see policy LP16 of the Local Plan. 

 
10.6 Policy LP16 of the Local Plan states that proposals for all new development will 

only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the proposal meets all of the 
relevant criteria set out within the policy. 
 

10.7 The proposal has been reviewed against all of the relevant criteria set out within 
policy LP16 of the Local Plan and it is considered that it complies with all of the 
criteria, except for criterion (m) which requires the site to be suitable for its 
proposed use, with layout and drainage taking account of ground conditions, with 
no significant impacts on future users, groundwater or surface waters. A full 
assessment of the flood risk impacts of the proposal is set out within the ‘Flood 
Risk’ section of this report. 

Page 69



 
10.8 Although the site is located on the edge of a market town and within a sustainable 

location in spatial terms, and is therefore compliant with policy LP3 of the Local 
Plan, the principle of development is not considered to be acceptable due to the 
proposed development being partly located within an area of high and medium risk 
of surface water flooding and therefore failing to accord with the locational strategy 
for residential development, as set out within policy H2 of the March 
Neighbourhood Plan and policies LP4 and LP16 (m) of the Local Plan. 

 
Flood risk 

 
10.9 The application site contains areas of high, medium and low risk of surface water 

flooding.  
 

10.10 Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan supports proposals for residential 
development where they meet the provisions of the Fenland Local Plan and where, 
inter alia, the following criteria is met: 
• The site is at a low risk of flooding (i.e. not within land designated Flood Zone 2 

or 3 by the Environment Agency) and will not create flooding problems on or 
off-site, including problems associated with surface water run-off. Development 
within flood zones 2 and 3 will only be considered where appropriate 
sequential and exception tests have been met. 

 
10.11 Within policy LP14 of the Local Plan, it states: 

“All development proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk from 
all forms of flooding. Development in areas known to be at risk from any form of 
flooding will only be permitted following:  

(a)  the successful completion of a sequential test (if necessary), having regard to 
actual and residual flood risks  

(b)  an exception test (if necessary),  
(c)  the suitable demonstration of meeting an identified need, and  
(d) through the submission of a site specific flood risk assessment, demonstrating 

appropriate flood risk management and safety measures and a positive 
approach to reducing flood risk overall, and without reliance on emergency 
services.”  

 
10.12 Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan and Policy LP14 of the Local Plan are 

consistent with the requirements set out within the NPPF and guidance set out 
within NPPG in that they require the Sequential Test (and the Exception Test, if 
necessary) to be applied, where development is proposed in areas at risk from any 
form of flooding.  
 

10.13 Within paragraph 168 of the NPPF, it states:  
“The aim of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the 
lowest risk of flooding from any source. Development should not be allocated or 
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed 
development in areas with a lower risk of flooding.” 
 

10.14 Within paragraph 023 of National Planning Practice Guidance, it states:  
“The approach is designed to ensure that areas at little or no risk of flooding from 
any source are developed in preference to areas at higher risk. This means 
avoiding, so far as possible, development in current and future medium and high 
flood risk areas considering all sources of flooding including areas at risk of surface 
water flooding.” 

 

Page 70



10.15 Guidance contained within the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD is consistent 
with policy LP14 of the Local Plan, paragraph 168 of the NPPF and paragraph 023 
of National Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
10.16 With non-detailed applications, such as applications for permission in principle, the 

Local Planning Authority are required to consider whether an acceptable scheme 
for the proposed quantum of development could be delivered around flood risk 
areas (i.e. not within the areas of high and medium risk of surface water flooding).  
The ‘Indicative Proposed Site Layout’ shows some of the proposed dwellings, and 
part of the proposed access road, located within the area of high and medium risk 
of surface water flooding. Although these details are indicative only and it would 
likely be possible to design a layout at a detailed matters stage which avoids the 
proposed dwellings being located within the area of high and medium risk of 
surface water flooding, it would not be possible to design a layout which avoids the 
proposed access being located within the area of high and medium risk of surface 
water flooding within the confines of the application current site. This is the only 
access into and out of the site. 
 

10.17 It is noted that there is land outside of the application site and within the control of 
the applicant which would likely be capable of providing a suitable alternative 
access for the proposed development, outside of the area of high and medium risk 
of surface water flooding. This land is currently subject to a separate planning 
application for frontage development (F/YR23/0528/F). Whilst officers have 
suggested that an alternative access location would mostly overcome the flood risk 
concerns, the applicant has not sought to make any amendments to the scheme. 
 

10.18 Due to the proposed development being located within an area of high and 
medium risk of surface water flooding, the flood risk impacts of the proposed 
development would only be acceptable if the application demonstrated that the 
Sequential Test has been passed.  
 

10.19 The application is not accompanied by a Sequential Test. Furthermore, it is 
considered that the Sequential Test has not been passed for the proposed 
development as there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed 
development in areas with a lower risk of flooding in the March area. 

 
10.20 With consideration given to national and local planning policies and guidance 

relating to flood risk (as specified above), in addition to recent case law (Mead 
Realisations Limited v The Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities & Anor, February 2024) and various subsequent planning appeal 
decisions, it is considered that the proposed development fails the Sequential Test 
and would have unacceptable surface water flood risks. 
 

10.21 By virtue of its location and land use, within an area of high and medium risk of 
surface water flooding, and its failure to pass the Sequential Test, the proposed 
development would have unacceptable surface water flood risks, contrary to policy 
H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan, policies LP14 and LP16 of the Local Plan, 
paragraph 168 of the NPPF, paragraph 023 of NPPG and Section 4 of the 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD. 

 
Character and appearance of the area 
 

Page 71



10.22 The application is accompanied by an ‘Indicative Proposed Site Layout’ plan, 
which indicatively shows how nine dwellings and an access road could be laid out 
within the application site.  
 

10.23 It is relevant to note that the six dwellings, shown immediately to the south of the 
proposed dwellings on the ‘Indicative Proposed Site Layout’ plan, are dwellings 
that are being proposed as part of a separate application for full planning 
permission (ref: F/YR23/0528/F). Those dwellings are not in situ and do not have 
permission at the time of this report. However, there is an extant permission in 
principle (ref: F/YR22/1112/PIP) for four dwellings within the general location of the 
six dwellings shown on the plan. 
 

10.24 The application site comprises partly brownfield land (which is within the 
settlement) and partly greenfield land (which is outside of the settlement and 
therefore within the countryside but adjacent to the developed footprint of the 
settlement). 

 
10.25 It is considered that the proposed dwellings would result in a form of residential 

backland development which is out of character with the predominant linear pattern 
of residential development within the surrounding area. However, with 
consideration given to the site being predominantly brownfield land with an 
appearance which currently contributes detrimentally to the character of the area, 
and the greenfield land within the site failing to provide any significant positive 
contribution to the character and appearance of the countryside due to appearing 
more closely associated with the brownfield land than open countryside in 
landscape terms, it is considered that residential development of the amount 
proposed would, in principle, have acceptable impacts on the character and 
appearance of the area, in accordance with policy LP16 of the Local Plan. 

 
Loss of employment land 

 
10.26 Policy LP6 of the Local Plan states that the Council will seek to retain for continued 

use high quality land and premises currently or last in use for B1/B2/B8 
employment purposes, unless it can be demonstrated through a marketing 
exercise that there is no reasonable prospect for the site being used for these 
purposes.  
 

10.27 The proposal would result in a loss of employment land which has a lawful use for: 
‘Use of the site for car repairs and servicing; joinery workshop and showroom; 
manufacture and sale of concrete products; storage of building materials and plant 
involving erection of buildings; the use and extension of existing buildings and 
stationing of 2 no. portacabins and 8 no. storage bins.’ 
 

10.28 The application is not accompanied by a marketing exercise demonstrating that 
there is no reasonable prospect of the site being used for employment purposes. 
With consideration given to the fact that there are multiple businesses operating 
from the site, it is considered that there is a reasonable prospect that the site could 
continue to be operated for employment purposes.  
 

10.29 However, the land is not considered to be ‘high quality’ employment land and it is 
not located within an area where the Local Plan steers employment uses towards. 
In addition, the existing lawful use of the site, which allows for unrestricted heavy 
industrial operations to be carried out, is an incompatible use with the surrounding 
residential uses due to the potential detrimental impacts that it could have on the 

Page 72



residential amenity of occupiers of residential properties, particularly in terms of 
noise and dust. For this reason, it is considered that the proposed residential use 
would be more compatible with surrounding residential uses than the existing 
commercial use. 
 

10.30 On balance, it is therefore considered that there are material considerations which 
indicate that the benefits of the loss of the employment land would outweigh the 
conflict with policy LP6 of the Local Plan. The loss of employment land is therefore 
considered to be acceptable on balance. 

 
Other matters 
 
Affordable housing provision 

 
10.31 For the purposes of securing affordable housing provision, the Local Planning 

Authority consider that the proposed development has clear links with other 
planning applications and permissions (references: F/YR22/1112/PIP, 
F/YR22/1414/PIP, F/YR23/0528/FUL). In any event of this application being 
granted, affordable housing provision may be required for the proposed 
development and other linked developments if they result in a cumulative total of 
10 or more dwellings across, as set out within policy LP5 of the Local Plan. A 
Section 106 Agreement to secure affordable housing would not be a requirement 
until the technical details consent stage, or full/outline planning application stage 
(for planning applications), where an application would result in the cumulative 
number of dwellings totalling 10 or more. 

 
Footway provision 

 
10.32 The Local Highway Authority has stated that a footway would need to be included 

along Creek Road, which must join the existing footway to the west. The ‘Indicative 
Proposed Site Layout’ plan accompanying this application shows a footway which 
is proposed in this location under planning application ref: F/YR23/0528/F. In any 
event of this permission in principle application being granted, it is considered 
reasonable to expect that a footway in this location would be secured as part of a 
subsequent application for technical details consent, in order to ensure adequate 
infrastructure provision to serve the proposed development, as separate unrelated 
applications / permissions cannot be relied upon to secure a footway for this 
proposed development. 
 
Consultation comments from technical consultees 
 

10.33 The Local Highway Authority has no objections to the principle of the proposed 
development. Highway safety matters would need to be addressed at the technical 
details stage, should this permission in principle application be granted. 
 

10.34 Cambridgeshire County Council Historic Environment Team has no objections to 
the proposed development, subject to a condition requiring archaeological 
investigation of the site. Archaeological matters would need to be addressed at the 
technical details stage, should this permission in principle application be granted. 

 
10.35 Fenland District Council Environmental Health department has no objections to the  

proposed development. However, they recommend conditions relating to 
contamination, working hours and construction management practices. Such 

Page 73



matters would need to be addressed at the technical details stage, should this 
permission in principle application be granted. 

 
11 CONCLUSIONS 
 
11.1 Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states: 

‘The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-making. 
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan 
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), 
permission should not usually be granted.’ 
 

11.2 The proposed development would be located in a sustainable location in spatial 
terms, within and on the edge of a market town. The proposed development would 
make effective re-use of brownfield land and would not result in any significant 
harm to the character and appearance of the area. The proposed development 
would be more compatible with the nearby residential uses than the existing 
authorised use of the site. The proposed development would contribute towards 
increasing the district’s housing supply and would provide economical and social 
benefits associated with construction of the development and accommodating 
additional residents within the locality. 

 
11.3 However, by virtue of its location and land use, within an area of high and medium 

risk of surface water flooding, and its failure to pass the Sequential Test, the 
proposed development would have unacceptable surface water flood risks which 
conflicts with the development plan and the strict tests set out in national policy 

 
11.4 On balance, it is considered that the benefits of the proposed development would 

not be sufficient to outweigh the harm in respect of surface water flood risks and 
the associated conflicts with the development plan.  

 
11.5 It is therefore considered that permission in principle should be refused. 
 
12 RECOMMENDATION 

 
Refuse; for the following reason: 
 

1 By virtue of its location and land use, within an area of high and medium risk 
of surface water flooding, and its failure to pass the Sequential Test, the 
proposed development would place people and property in an unjustified 
risk of flooding, contrary to policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 
2017, policies LP4, LP14 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, and 
paragraph 168 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
 

Page 74



Page 75



P
age 76



 
 
F/YR24/0333/F 
 
Applicant:  Mr and Mrs Baxter 
 
 

Agent :  Mr Ian Gowler 
Gowler Architectural 

 
Land North East Of Horseway Farm Accessed From, Byall Fen Drove, Manea, 
Cambridgeshire   
 
Erect 1 dwelling (2-storey 3-bed) and formation of a new access 
 
Officer recommendation: Refuse  
 
Reason for Committee: Number of representations received contrary to Officer 
recommendation 
 
 
Government Planning Guarantee 
Statutory Target Date For Determination: 13 June 2024 

EOT in Place: Yes 
EOT Expiry: 7 August 2024 

Application Fee: £578 
Risk Statement:  
This application must be determined by 7 August 2024 otherwise it will be out of 
time and therefore negatively affect the performance figures. 
 
 
1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This application is for the erection of 1 dwelling (2-storey, 3-bed) and the 

formation of a new access.  
 

1.2 The justification provided for the functional need for the dwelling as detailed within 
the design and access statement notes that the applicant and his father run two 
businesses from the existing property at Horseway Farm. Firstly, their construction 
company which has various plant and materials that are stored at the site and the 
second, the Holiday lets. It is also noted that there are various farm animals that 
are reared for slaughter on site. At present, the applicant and his family live at 
Horseway Farm with his father and partner. They wish to have a property of their 
own but still be able to take on the business needs when the father is away.  

 
1.3 Accordingly, the submission largely fails to address the requirements of Policy 

LP12 – Part D in terms of a functional need for a dwelling on site as it is not 
considered that the convenience for the applicant residing adjacent to the site is a 
material factor sufficient to overcome the policy requirement to direct development 
away from such sites.  

 
1.4 A further permanent dwelling in this predominantly rural location is considered 

unjustified in this case and would significantly detract from, and undermine, the 
rural character of this part of the District.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



 
1.5 The recommendation is therefore to refuse planning permission.  
 

 
2 SITE DESCRIPTION 

 
2.1    The site lies approximately 6km southwest of Manea, adjacent to a cluster of 

dwellings located within the open countryside. The site is situated on the northern 
side of Byall Fen Drove and currently comprises paddock/grazing land.  
 

2.2    A dwelling (Horseway Farm) is situated to the south-west of the site as well as 
holiday lets which are situated within the previous residential curtilage of Horseway 
Farm. 

 
2.3    The site is situated within Flood Zone 1.  

 
3 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1    This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a 2-storey, 3-bed 

dwelling and the formation of a new access.  
 

3.2    The proposed dwelling would be an L-shaped dwelling, with dual-pitched roof with 
a ridge height of approximately 7.8 metres. The main bulk of the dwelling would 
have a depth of approximately 12.9 metres and a width of 6 metres approx. The 2-
storey off-shoot to the side of the dwelling would have a depth of 6.5 metres 
approx. and a width of 6.3 metres approx.  
 

3.3    Amenity space would be provided to the side and rear of the dwelling, enclosed by 
a 1.2m post and rail fence. 3 parking spaces and turning space would be provided 
on site, with a driveway measuring in excess of 120 metres running from a new 
access point.  
 

3.4    Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at: 
F/YR24/0333/F | Erect 1 dwelling (2-storey 3-bed) and formation of a new access | 
Land North East Of Horseway Farm Accessed From Byall Fen Drove Manea 
Cambridgeshire (fenland.gov.uk) 
 
 

4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Reference Description Decision  
F/YR20/0945/F Change of use of existing 

garage/stores to 3 x 1-
bed holiday lets 
(Land North East Of 
Horseway Farm 
Chatteris) 

Granted 
11/12/2020 

 
 
5 CONSULTATIONS 

 
5.1    Manea Parish Council 

 
No objection 
 

Page 78

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 
5.2    FDC Environmental Health 

 
I refer to the above application for consideration and make the following 
observations. 
 
The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and 
have 'No Objections' in principle to the proposal, as it is unlikely to have a 
detrimental effect on local air quality, the noise climate, or be affected by ground 
contamination. 
 

5.3    CCC Highways 
 
Recommendation  
 
On the basis of the information submitted, from the perspective of the Local 
Highway Authority, I consider the proposed development is acceptable.  
 
Comments  
 
The proposed vehicle access is shown to have inter-vehicle visibility splays of 2.4x 
215m in either direction. This is inline with the national design guidance and the 
access is also shown be hardened over the verge which should be constructed to 
CCC specifications. 
Conditions  
 
Visibility Splays: Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, 
visibility splays shall be provided on both sides of the new vehicular access and 
shall be maintained free from any obstruction over a height of 600 mm within an 
area of 2.4 metres x 125 metres measured from the back edge of the carriageway. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP15 of the 
Fenland Local Plan 2014.  
 

5.4    Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Two letters of objection were received with regard to this application from address 
points at Horseway, Chatteris. The reasons for objection are summarised as 
follows: 
 
- Proximity of driveway to neighbouring access  
- Contrary to LP12 
 
Nine letters of support were received with regard to this application. Seven of these 
letters were from address points in Chatteris (Five from Horseway and two from 
Farriers Gate) two from address points within Manea (one from Fallow Corner 
Drove and one from Westfield Road) and one from an address point at 
Wimblington Road, Doddington. The reasons for support are summarised as 
follows: 
 
- Nice house 
- Would compliment other houses in the area 
- Applicant is local and works in a long established family business 
- Will benefit the village of Manea 
- Will enable business from the current premises to be maintained  
- Security for family business 

Page 79



 
 

6 STATUTORY DUTY  
 
6.1    Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 

planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan 
(2014). 

 
 
7 POLICY FRAMEWORK  

 
7.1    National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

Para. 2 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 10 - So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the 
heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para. 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change 
the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-
making.  
Para. 47 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para 84 – Rural Housing  
Para. 135 - Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  
a)  will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development;  
b)  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping;  
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);  
d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit;  
e)  optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and  
f)  create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  
Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  
  

7.2    National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Determining a Planning Application  
  

7.3    National Design Guide 2021  
Context  
Identity  
Built Form  
  

Page 80



7.5    Fenland Local Plan 2014  
LP1 –  A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
LP2 –  Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
LP3 –  Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  
LP4 –  Housing  
LP12 – Rural Areas Development Policy  
LP14 – Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in  
  Fenland  
LP15 – Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in  
  Fenland  
LP16 – Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District  
 

7.6    Emerging Local Plan  
The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th 
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and 
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.  
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in 
accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry 
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are 
policies:  
  
LP1:   Settlement Hierarchy  
LP2:   Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
LP5:   Health and Wellbeing  
LP7:   Design  
LP8:   Amenity Provision  
LP18:  Development in the Countryside  
LP20:  Accessibility and Transport  
LP22:  Parking Provision  
LP32:  Flood and Water Management  

 
 
8 KEY ISSUES 

• Principle of Development 
• Character and Appearance  
• Residential Amenity 
• Parking and Highways 
• Flood Risk  

 
 
9 ASSESSMENT 

 
Principle of Development 
 

9.1   The application site is located away from the built-up area of the settlement of 
Manea, within an isolated location dominated by countryside. The area is 
characterised by agricultural uses, with a small cluster of residential dwellings. This 
is an ‘elsewhere’ location when applying the criteria outlined in Policy LP12; given 
that it is clearly outside the built-up settlement of Manea. Whilst the existence of 
other dwellings along Horseway result in the site not being ‘physically’ isolated, the 
lack of nearby services and facilities would render the location ‘functionally’ 
isolated.  
 

9.2   Policy LP3 sets out that residential development in such locations should be 
restricted to that which is demonstrably essential to the effective operation of local 

Page 81



agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services; 
and to minerals or waste development in accordance with separate Minerals and 
Water Local Development Documents (LDDs). The current application clearly does 
not accord with these prescribed uses. In addition to compliance with Policy LP3, 
Policy LP12 Part D requires the application to demonstrate the following:  
 
(a) The existing functional need for the dwelling 
(b) The number of part time and full-time worker(s) to live in the dwelling 
(c) The length of time the activity has been established 
(d) The financial viability of the enterprise  
(e) The availability of other suitable accommodation on site or in the area  
(f) How the proposed size of the dwelling relates to the viability of the   
  enterprise 
 
Justification of need 
 

9.3   The justification provided for the functional need for the dwelling as detailed within 
the design and access statement notes that the applicant and his father run two 
businesses from the existing property at Horseway Farm. Firstly, a construction 
company which has various plant and materials that are stored at the site and the 
second, the Holiday lets. It is also noted that there are various farm animals that 
are reared for slaughter on site. At present, the applicant and his family live at 
Horseway Farm with his father and partner. They wish to have a property of their 
own but still be able to take on the business needs when the father is away.  
 

9.4   No business plan has been submitted as part of the application and thus no detail 
has been provided to satisfy parts (b), (c), (d) or (f). It is therefore unclear which 
business or businesses the applicant considers is essential for a full-time worker to 
occupy the dwelling. Nor has any business case been provided to be able to 
confirm that any of the businesses are viable to support this.   

 
9.5 Notwithstanding, no planning permission appears to exist for the site to function as 

a builder’s yard, with only planning permission for the replacement dwelling and 
change of use of garages to holiday lets apparent in the planning history. 
 

9.6   The application has failed to justify why an additional dwelling would be required to 
support the business needs. Accordingly, the submission largely fails to address 
the requirements of Policy LP12 – Part D in terms of a functional need for a 
dwelling on site as it is not considered that an additional dwelling would be 
necessary and it is not considered that convenience from the applicant residing 
adjacent to the site is a material factor sufficient to overcome the policy 
requirement to direct development away from such sites.  
 

9.7   In addition to the above, Paragraph 84(a) of the NPPF states that the development 
of isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there is an essential 
need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work in the 
countryside.  
 

9.8   The application submitted has failed to demonstrate that there is an essential need 
for a rural worker to live permanently on site and thus the application is also 
considered to be contrary to Paragraph 84 of the NPPF.  
 
Character and Appearance  
 

Page 82



9.9   The application proposes the construction of a permanent new dwelling adjacent to 
the existing dwelling and holiday lets at Horseway Farm. 
 

9.10   The character of development along Horseway/Byall Fen Drove can be described 
as sporadic and loose knit, due to the large and spacious fields forming gaps 
between the occasional dwellings along Horseway and the inter-relationship 
between existing residential properties and the broad agricultural hinterland 
between and surrounding them. 
 

9.11  Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan requires development to ‘make a positive 
contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhancing its 
local setting, responding to and improving the character of the local built 
environment, providing resilience to climate change, reinforcing local identity and 
not adversely impacting on the street scene, settlement pattern or landscape 
character of the surrounding area’. 
 

9.12  Notwithstanding that the design and appearance of the dwelling itself is not 
considered to be objectionable in its own right, the proposal by its very nature and 
location, with the inclusion of the 120 metre driveway would detract from the 
relationship between Horseway and its rural and undeveloped surroundings. The 
proposed waste collection point is proposed to be opposite the parking turning 
area adjacent to the highway and it is therefore not clear from the application why 
the proposed access is situated at such a distance from the dwelling and 
potentially could also cater as an access point, or why the existing access cannot 
be used. The proposed access and track would therefore appear over-engineered, 
further contributing to the adverse visual impact of the proposal.  

 
9.13 In conclusion, the proposed development would result in unwarranted harm to the 

rural character of the area, undermining the relationship of existing sporadic and 
loose-knit built form set amongst open countryside and would therefore be contrary 
to Policy LP16 of the adopted Fenland Local Plan.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 

9.14  The closest neighbouring property is at Horseway Farm, which is situated 
approximately 46 metres to the south-west of the site. Rushbech Farm is situated 
approximately 160 metres north-east of the site. As such, it is unlikely that the 
proposed dwelling would adversely impact upon neighbouring residential amenity 
given the distance between the proposed dwelling and neighbouring dwellings.  
 
Parking and Highways  
 

9.15  The application proposes a new access onto Byall Fen Drove, approximately 130 
metres north-east of the proposed dwelling. Upon consultation with CCC 
Highways, no objections were raised to the access.  
 

9.16  The application also proposes 3 parking spaces as well as turning space on site. 
Therefore, there are no issues to address with regard to Policy LP15, albeit the 
remote location of the access and adverse character impacts appears to be 
unjustified.  
 
Flood Risk 
 

Page 83



9.17  The application site is situated within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and as such the 
proposal is considered to be appropriate development and does not require the 
submission of a flood risk assessment or inclusion of mitigation measures 
  
 

10 CONCLUSIONS 
 

10.1  The site lies within an ‘elsewhere’ location as such, the erection of a dwelling is 
contrary to the settlement policies outlined in Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 
2014. Furthermore, the scheme fails to evidence the ‘need’ for the property in this 
location as required by Policy LP12 – Part D and would detrimentally impact on the 
character of the area. Given that the scheme fails to demonstrate that the 
development is justified in terms of a functional need and the visual harm that 
ensues, development plan policies indicate that the application should be refused 
and there are no material considerations to indicate a departure from the 
development plan is warranted in this instance. 

 
 
11 RECOMMENDATION 

 
         Refuse; for the following reasons  

 
1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) steer new development to sustainable areas that offer 
the best access to services and facilities. The exception to this approach 
is where it can be demonstrated that such development is essential to the 
effective operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor 
recreation, transport or utility services, or that there is a justifiable reason 
for locating development in otherwise unsustainable locations.  
 
The proposed dwelling would be located in the open countryside and 
whilst it is asserted that it is essential for business reasons, the 
justification given does not meet the requirements of LP12(D) in terms of 
evidencing a clear functional need or that no other suitable 
accommodation is available. Whilst the NPPF seeks to support a 
prosperous rural economy this does not override the need to ensure that 
development is located in the most accessible and sustainable locations. 
The proposed development is located outside any settlement limits and 
the justification given is not sufficient to warrant the development being 
considered as an exception. The proposal is therefore contrary to Local 
Plan Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (adopted May 
2014). 
 

2 Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development 
proposals to deliver and protect high quality environments throughout the 
district. Proposals are required to demonstrate that they make a positive 
contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area, 
enhancing their local setting and both responding to and improving the 
character of the local built environment whilst not adversely impacting on 
the street scene, settlement pattern or landscape character of the 
surrounding area. The proposal is for the construction of a new dwelling 
on currently undeveloped land within an area characterised by sporadic 
development with a close relationship to the wider open countryside. 
 
The development would result in the erosion of the existing sporadic built 

Page 84



form and an urbanisation of the area, detracting from the open and 
sporadic character of this rural location. The result would be a 
development that results in harm to the existing distinctiveness and open 
character of the area which would be contrary to policy LP16 of the 
Fenland Local Plan (2014). 
 

 
 
 

Page 85



WB

BYALL FEN

DROVE

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Created on: 01/05/2024

1:2,500Scale = 

F/YR24/0333/F ±
Page 86



2.79

BYALL FEN DROVE
BYALL FEN DROVE

BYALL FEN DROVE

BYALL FEN DROVE

BYALL FEN DROVE

BYALL FEN DROVE

3.695

287330.290

542802.809

2.914

287393.635

542842.956

10052-7

4.181
287678.605
543264.898
10052-6

4.460
287591.630
543151.197
10052-5

4.219

287520.519

543056.669

10052-43.907

287428.455

542938.058

10052-3

4.036

287372.551

542852.636

10052-2

10052-1

7.98

6.35

6.50

GP
GP

UTS:APPROXIMA
TE POSITION OF 

TOP BANK ONLY

GRAVEL

PASTURE

PASTUREPASTURE

PASTURE

GRASS

SOIL-ANIMAL PEN

WALL WALL

GRAVEL

H6.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H8.00

H15.00

H6.00

H14.00

H12.00

H10.00

H14.00

H6.00H8.00H6.00

H10.00

H10.00
H10.00

H7.00

H10.00
H10.00

H10.00
H10.00H10.00

H10.00H10.00H10.00

H10.00

H10.00

H10.00 H10.00

H10.00 H10.00
H12.00

H6.00 H12.00

H9.00
H8.00

H8.00

S2.50

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S3.00

S5.50

S2.50

S4.00

S3.50

S4.00

S6.00

S2.50S3.00S2.50

S4.00

S4.00
S4.00

S3.00

S4.00
S4.00S4.00

S4.00
S4.00

S4.00S4.00S4.00
S4.00

S4.00

S5.00 S5.00

S5.00 S5.00
S7.00

S2.50 S6.00

S4.00
S2.00

S2.00

MULTI
G0.60

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G1.20

G2.20

G0.60

G1.20

G2.00

G2.00

G1.00

G0.60G0.60G0.60

G1.20

G1.20
G1.20

G0.80

G1.00
G1.00G1.00

G1.00
G1.00

G1.00G1.20G1.20
G1.20

G1.20

G1.60 G1.60

G1.00 G1.00
G3.00

G0.70 G2.40

G1.60
G0.70

G0.70

MULTI

MULTI MULTI

MULTI
MULTI

MULTI

MULTI

4.15

4.06

3.9
7

4.03

4.24

4.26
4.264.22

4.29

4.25

1.48

3.853.73

2.16
2.19

2.10

1.87
1.80

1.72

1.65

1.62
1.55

1.32 1.33

1.26
1.38 1.35

1.47
1.55

1.51

1.44

1.53

1.36

1.17
1.15 1.21

1.30
1.39

1.45
1.09

1.2
1

1.20

1.12

1.24

1.26

1.17

1.20

1.23

1.28

1.36
1.40

1.46

1.54

1.65

1.64

1.79
1.73

1.76
1.87

3.67

3.84

3.72
3.733.773.903.843.70

3.79

3.72

3.68

3.69

3.68

3.51

3.51

3.40

3.23

3.87
4.16

4.07
4.034.114.09

4.14
3.91

3.59

3.67

3.79
3.85

3.903.963.96

3.82

3.63

3.58

3.49

3.48

3.40

3.41

4.134.214.20
4.224.184.20

4.234.264.224.29
4.254.29

4.294.364.314.25
4.234.24

4.20
4.20

4.18

4.02
3.994.034.15

4.304.08
4.064.064.184.154.304.144.264.174.194.284.244.194.244.324.324.32

4.26
4.174.013.974.004.14

3.54

3.34 3.81
3.833.823.683.723.663.61

3.663.723.703.55
3.693.683.78

3.793.81
3.67

3.
72

3.983.97

3.92

STUMP

RS
STAY

STAY

STAY

3.44

4.034.054.044.034.034.03

3.97

4.24
4.22 4.26 4.33 4.39

4.42 4.41
4.39

4.44 4.41 4.39 4.29 4.37
4.28 4.31

4.32 4.22 4.26 4.28
4.27

4.114.174.044.144.17
4.084.164.164.214.154.194.23

4.314.27
4.304.314.254.29

4.28
4.224.30

4.254.20
4.224.17

4.194.224.16

4.08

3.893.89

4.00

3.953.913.87

3.68 3.71 3.65 3.69 3.71 3.84 3.83 3.85 3.86 3.83

3.062.93

3.86
3.85

4.294.234.204.284.28

3.14
3.503.543.70

3.63

2.45

2.64

2.72

3.00

3.11

3.13

3.13

2.83

2.84

2.50

2.55

2.472.46

2.30

2.21

2.05

2.35

2.53

2.65

2.79

3.02

3.04

3.30 3.13

2.96

2.80

2.48

2.39

2.33

2.07 2.07

2.18

2.40

2.56

2.65

2.88

3.17

3.05

2.95

2.79

2.65

2.48

2.30

2.16

1.98
1.86

2.02

2.23

2.43

2.57

2.73

2.91

2.98

2.87

2.70

2.56

2.41

2.25

2.05

1.95

1.82 1.80

1.95

2.09

2.28

2.38

2.55

2.66

2.80

2.85
2.82

2.73

2.63

2.43

2.40

2.38

2.34

1.57

2.82

2.89 2.98

2.96
3.05

3.11 3.13

3.20

3.15

2.64

2.36

2.14

1.55

2.83

1.53
1.52

1.44

1.53

1.64
1.69

1.70

1.80

2.07

1.99

2.10

2.70

1.97

1.86

2.10 2.12

1.82

1.82

1.54

1.85

2.792.77

2.78

2.48

2.56
2.72

2.60

2.41

2.16

2.38

2.10

2.25

2.69

2.41
2.50

2.21

1.93

2.01

2.19

2.48

1.87

2.13

2.61

2.35

2.53
2.56

2.56

2.332.40

2.30

2.07

1.92

2.15

1.59

1.83

2.99

3.473.47

3.28

3.30

3.283.20

3.04

2.90

2.98

2.77

2.67

2.24

2.24

2.34

2.55

2.59
2.75 2.66

2.80

2.90

2.98

3.02

3.17

3.25

3.25

3.17
3.123.07

3.91
3.78 3.80

3.80
3.86

3.83
3.83

3.82
3.85

3.84
3.89

3.88 3.89
3.99

3.93
3.97

3.95
4.20

4.00
4.10

4.21
4.21

4.03
4.21 4.17 4.17 4.23

3.71

3.543.52

3.66

3.503.86

3.41

3.78

3.93

3.95

3.84 3.86

3.84

4.29

3.99

RIDGE

4.14 4.14
4.134.144.164.174.19

4.22 4.21
4.264.284.314.324.344.374.36

4.36 4.37
4.354.314.314.294.314.284.254.244.27

3.59

3.63

3.71

3.71

3.71

3.75

3.77

3.86

3.83

3.85 3.94 3.99 4.02 4.04 4.05 4.07 4.08 4.04 4.06 4.04 4.03 3.95 3.91

4.144.084.074.043.993.953.923.913.853.853.843.853.88

4.26

4.14 4.14

4.20 4.23

3.813.813.83
3.823.823.883.923.893.993.983.923.953.993.973.96

3.973.953.983.923.943.963.913.903.913.873.843.88
3.86

3.86 3.89 3.92 3.89 3.91 3.94 3.93 3.92 3.91 3.85 3.80 3.76 3.80 3.80

3.863.82

3.783.81

3.74 3.71 3.71

4.124.124.094.084.074.12
4.09

4.12
4.084.124.194.234.244.274.29

4.264.27
4.284.264.25

4.244.26
4.234.19

4.184.22
4.033.994.013.953.943.943.923.883.893.883.833.853.823.773.763.753.743.773.743.793.833.82

3.79 3.80
3.77 3.73 3.74 3.79 3.80 3.82 3.82 3.83 3.87 3.87 3.92 3.94 3.97 4.00 4.00 4.03 4.14

4.19 4.22
4.19 4.17 4.18 4.22 4.18

4.18 4.24 4.27 4.29 4.30 4.28 4.24 4.23
4.19 4.17 4.15 4.13 4.12 4.11 4.09 4.07 4.06 4.11 4.10 4.09

3.74

3.47
3.55

3.52
3.56

3.61
3.62

3.63
3.61

3.65
3.66

3.69
3.73

3.75

3.72

3.72
3.69

3.64

3.68

3.67
3.67

3.65

3.62

3.53

3.53

3.49

ICCL 3.81

3.51
3.71

3.76 3.81 3.87

3.77

3.85

3.77
3.92

3.92 3.93 3.90 3.91 3.92 3.91 3.92

3.81

3.223.18

4.24

HEDGE
HEDGE

HEDGE
HEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE

GATE

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

PO
ST

GATE

GATE

POSTPOST

IR
O
N
 R
AILIN

G

IRON RAILING

GATE

POST

GATE
GATE

GATE

GATE

TREES/BUSHES

FOLIAGE

SHRUBS

SHRUBS/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES
TREES/BUSHES TREES/BUSHESSHRUBS/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES
TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUS
HES

BRAMBLES

TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES

TREES/BUSHES

DENSE,TALL BRA
MBLES

HEDGE

HEDGEHEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE

HEDGE HEDGE

HEDGE
HEDGE

HEDGE HEDGE HEDGE TREES/BUSHES

SHRUBSSHRUBS
SHRUBS

EAVE

EAVE

DROP KERB3.87 3.88 3.87 3.93

C
O
N
C
R
ETE

CONCRETE

C
H
N
L

CHNLCHNL

FEN
C
E

FEN
C
E

BARBED WIRE
BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIRE

BA
RB
ED
 W
IR
E

BF

BF

BARBED 
WIRE

BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIR
E

BARBED
 WIRE

BARBED
 WIRE

FENCE
BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIRE

BARBED WIRE

FENCE

FENCE
FENCE

3.13

3.42
3.03

1.46

2.33

3.3
5

3.4
6

3.3
7

3.31
3.03

2.47

1.461.74

1.50

1.47

1.52

1.44

1.46
1.321.32

1.36
1.26

1.33

1.47
1.41

1.64

1.60

1.84

1.73

2.13

1.722.14

2.993.09

3.073.03

2.90

2.81

2.80

2.74

3.88
3.843.863.934.083.99

3.893.923.76

2.16

EP

EP

EP

W

EP

EP
EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP EP

EP

EP
BT

SHED

TB

TB

TB

TB

TB

TB

TB

BB

BB

BB

BB

BB
TB

TB

BB

BB

TB

TB

TB

BB

BB

TBTB

TB

TB

BB

BB

BB

BB
BB

BB

BB

BB

BB
BB

BB

TB

TB

BB

TB

TB

BBTB TB

TB

TBTB

BB

BB

BB
BB

BB
BB

TB

TB

BB

BB

BB

BB

3.27
3.363.29

3.343.023.13
3.113.00

3.15

3.35
3.19 3.18

3.10 3.15

0.60
0.590.82

0.89

0.891.01

0.96

0.85

0.73

0.940.83

0.96
0.85

0.91

0.79

0.88

0.85

0.92

1.09

1.19

1.23

1.30

1.54

1.52

3.24 3.31 3.28 3.24 3.25
3.26 3.29 3.36

2.82

2.88

2.90

2.88

2.97

3.05

3.10

3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15 3.07 3.14 3.27
3.44

3.46

3.393.243.023.013.193.113.193.36

2.65

2.66

2.73

2.74

2.74

2.82

2.86
2.76

2.87
2.7
8

2.76

2.81

2.75

2.69

2.58
2.64

3.42 3.40

2.7
5

2.79
2.79

2.85

3.3
9 3.39 3.44

3.16
3.07

3.08 3.03 3.07
3.10 3.12

3.28

3.32
3.28 3.27 3.29 3.38 3.12

3.02 3.02 2.99
2.98 3.04

3.10 3.05
2.99 3.22

3.06 3.33

3.30
3.40 3.67

3.61
3.72 3.54 2.79

3.11

3.20 3.27
3.26 3.27 3.33

3.38 3.05 3.12

3.24WL

PIPE

PIPE

DP

DP

DP
DP

0m
10

20
30

40
50

SCALE BAR

100m

0m
10

20
30

40
50

SCALE BAR

100m

(Indicative)

(Indicative)

0m
10

20
30

40
50

SCALE BAR

100m

(Indicative)

2.4x215m Visibility Splaybins

2.4x215m Visibility Splay

New highway crossover to 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council specification

New Gravel Drive
Existing hedging removed at entrance

1.2m Post and Rail Fence

1.2m Post and rail fence

1.2m Post and rail fence

1.2m post and rail fence

Treatment Plant and Drainage Feild

soakaway

FFL 3.00

A

B

C

BIODIVERSITY
A - Sparrow terrace nest box
B - Bat box
C - Hedgehog Habitat

Sitting room

Lounge/ Kitchen/
Diner

Utility

wc

Bed 2

Bed 1

Bed 3

Bathroom

En
-S
ui
te

En-Suite

date created scale drawing no. rev

Architectural and Domestic 
Energy Consultant

Grove House, 22 Primrose Hill, Doddington, Cambs, PE15 0SU
tel. 01354 667005          email. ian@gowler-architectural.co.uk

Notes
Any discrepancies to be brought to attention of Author as soon 
as possible.
All dimensions shown in "mm" unless otherwise shown.
Unless stated otherwise, this drawing has been assesed for 
risks and nothing is deemed to be outside of normal good safe 
working practice that would be covered by a contractors 
Construction Phase Health and Safety Plan.

Ian Gowler Consulting Ltd

As indicated @ A1

Proposed New Dwelling at Horseway Farm,
Byall Fen Drove for Mr and Mrs Perce Baxter

Planning Proposed

31/01/24 P02600 -

 1 : 500
Proposed Site Plan

 1 : 100
Proposed Ground Floor

 1 : 100
Proposed First Floor

 1 : 100
Planning Front Elevation

 1 : 100
Planning (south west)

 1 : 100
Planning Rear

 1 : 100
Planning Side (north east)

 1 : 200
Planning Street Elevation

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
F/YR24/0410/F 
 
Applicant:  Mr G Howell 
Swann Edwards Architecture Ltd 
 

Agent :  Mr Gareth Edwards 
Swann Edwards Architecture Limited 

 
Land East Of Stores At The Lodge, Fendyke Lane, Leverington, Cambridgeshire   
 
Erect a dwelling (2-storey 5-bed) involving the demolition of existing commercial 
buildings 
 
Officer recommendation: REFUSE 
 
Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer 
recommendation 
 
 
Government Planning Guarantee 
Statutory Target Date For Determination: 8 July 2024 

EOT in Place: No 
EOT Expiry: N/A 

Application Fee: £578 
Risk Statement:  
This application is currently beyond the date for determination in respect of the 
statutory performance targets. The application must be determined by 2 

September or the application fee will need to be returned.  
 
 
1 EXECTUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This application seeks to erect a dwelling (2-storey 5-bed) involving the 
demolition of existing commercial buildings. 
 

1.2 Paragraph 84 of the NPPF seeks to avoid isolated homes in the countryside 
unless it can be justified that the scheme complies with one or more exception 
criteria. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development in 
areas away from market towns and villages to be essential to the effective 
operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, 
transport or utility services. Policy LP12 Part D of the Fenland Local Plan 
(2014) states proposals for new dwellings in such locations will be supported 
where the application addresses the functional need for a dwelling in this 
location and that there is no availability of other suitable accommodation on 
site or in the area.  

 
1.3 By virtue that the proposal seeks to create a purely residential development in 

an elsewhere location, with no links to a rural enterprise, there is no 
demonstrably essential or functional need for accommodation such as the 
proposed to be provided at the site. Furthermore, there has been no evidence 
submitted to suggest that the proposal meets any of the exceptions as set out 
in NPPF Paragraph 84. Thus, the proposal is considered contrary to the 
above aforementioned local and national planning policies and cannot be 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



supported. 
 
1.4 Notwithstanding, the scale and design of the dwelling is at odds with its rural 

location and part of the site would be located within an area at risk of flooding 
(Flood Zone 2) without sufficient justification. 

 
1.5 The following assessment concludes that the application is contrary to the 

development plan and national planning policies and is therefore 
recommended for refusal. 

 
 
 

2 SITE DESCRIPTION 
2.1 The application site is situated to the east of Fendyke Lane in a rural location to the 

east of Gorefield.  The site is to the rear of properties fronting Fendyke Lane. 
Fendyke Lane is an unclassified road characterised by linear development to the 
east at the northern end of the road and agricultural land with sporadic dwellings 
elsewhere. The site currently consists of 2 industrial buildings hosting a motor 
vehicle business.  
 

2.2 The site is located partially within Flood Zone 1 (Low Risk) and partially within 
Flood Zone 2 (Medium Risk). 
 

3 PROPOSAL 
3.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a dwelling (2-

storey 5-bed) involving the demolition of existing commercial buildings. The 
dwelling would be formed in an L shape with the garage with master bedroom 
above protruding to the front of the dwelling.  
 
The proposed dwelling would measure approximately: 

• 17.4m max length 
• 14.9m max width 
• 9.9m max roof pitch height 

 
The proposed materials are: 

• Brick 
• Tile 
• Cladding 

 
Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at: 
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?a
ction=firstPage 
 

Page 90

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 
4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY 

Pertinent planning history listed below: 
 
Application Description Decision 
F/YR23/0579/F Erect a detached garage with ancillary 1-

bed annexe above and change of use of 
land for domestic purposes (part 
retrospective) 
(Unit 2 South Of The Lodge) 

Granted 
06 Oct 2023 

F/YR19/0638/F Change of use from light industrial 
(B1(c)) to a residential dwelling (C3) 
including the siting of a temporary 
caravan and filling in a section of the 
ditch 
(Unit 2 South Of The Lodge) 

Granted 
20 Sep 2019 

F/YR18/0796/PNC07 Change of use from light industrial 
(B1(c)) to a residential dwelling (C3) 

Granted 
18 Oct 2018 

F/YR17/1243/VOC Variation of condition 9 (condition listing 
approved plans) relating to planning 
permission F/YR17/0850/F (Erection of a 
4/5-bed earth sheltered dwelling with 
double garage, landscaping and water 
features) - amendment to design 
(Land North Of Thorn Hal) 

Granted 
15 Feb 2018 

F/YR17/1107/CERTLU Certificate of Lawful Use (Existing): Use 
of buildings for light engineering B1(c) 
(Stores At The Lodge) 

Certificate 
issued 
06 Feb 2018 

 
 

5 CONSULTATIONS 
 
5.1    Leverington Parish Council 

Conforms to LP13 of Local Plan. 
Highway's:- If entrance modified would it then comply with Local Highways 
requirements ie:- Visual Splays ? 
LP14(NPPF) Flood risk low. 
As being in use at time of application is it necessary to apply for planning or would 
it come under Permitted Development? 
No objections. 
 

5.2    Environment & Health Services (FDC) 
The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and 
have 'No Objections' to the proposal as it is unlikely to have a detrimental effect on 
local air quality.  
 
Due to the former use and potential for contaminants to exist, a Phase 1 
contaminated land risk assessment shall be required before any development is 
undertaken. This is to determine to what extent contaminants may exist, and if 
confirmed, what remedial action will then be necessary to ensure the protection for 
end users both inside the structure and for any proposed external amenity areas 
such as those put to garden use which could include growing of fruit and/or 
vegetables for human consumption. 
 

Page 91



I would therefore recommend the full contaminated land condition as shown below 
for ease of reference is imposed to ensure the application site is suitable for the 
intended development and in the interests of human health and the environment: 
 
No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to an 
investigative contaminated land assessment and associated remedial strategy, 
being submitted to the LPA and receipt of approval of the document/documents 
from the LPA. This applies to paragraphs a), b) and c). This is an iterative process, 
and the results of each stage will help decide if the following stage is necessary. 
(a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk study to be 
submitted to the LPA for approval. The desk study shall detail the history of the 
site uses, the proposed site usage, and include a conceptual model. The site 
investigation strategy will be based on the relevant information discovered by the 
desk study. The strategy shall be approved by the LPA prior to investigations 
commencing on site. 
 
(b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and 
groundwater sampling, shall be carried out by a suitable qualified and accredited 
consultant/contractor in accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis 
methodology.  
 
(c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site, 
together with the results of the analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a 
proposed remediation strategy shall be submitted to the LPA. The LPA shall 
approve such remedial works as required prior to any remediation commencing on 
site. The works shall be of such a nature as to render harmless the identified 
contamination given the proposed end use of the site and surrounding 
environment including any controlled waters. No development approved by this 
permission shall be occupied prior to the completion of any remedial works and a 
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of approval of the 
document/documents from the LPA. This applies to paragraphs (d), (e) and (f). (d)  
 
(d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality 
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology 
and best practice guidance.         
 
(e) If, during the works, contamination is encountered which has not previously 
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an 
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the LPA.  
 
(f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a 
validation/closure report has been submitted to and approved by the LPA. The 
closure report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and quality 
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in 
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post‐ remedial 
sampling and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean‐up criteria 
shall be included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation 
detailing what waste materials have been removed from site, and what has been 
brought on to site.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development complies with approved details in the 
interests of the protection of human health and the environment.  
 
To protect the amenity of existing nearby residents, it is also recommended that a 
working times restriction condition is imposed in the event that planning 

Page 92



permission is granted, with the below considered suitable: No demolition or 
construction work shall be carried out and no plant or power operated machinery 
operated other than between the following hours: 08:00 hours and 18:00 hours on 
Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours and 13:00 hours on Saturday and at no time on 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, unless otherwise previously agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority.  
REASON: To protect the amenity of the nearby occupiers. Kind Regard 
 

5.3    North Level Internal Drainage Board 
The board has no objection in principle to the planning application. 
 
It has been noted that soakaways are indicated as the preferred method of surface 
water disposal and the applicant is asked to show that soakaway drainage would 
be effective. 
 

5.4    Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Supporters 
Six representations have been received in support of the application all from 
residents residing along Fendyke Lane, raising the following matters; 
 

• Existing noise issues with the workshop. The proposal would be more 
compatible with existing residential uses 

 
 

6 STATUTORY DUTY  
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a 
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan 
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan 
(2014). 
 
 

7 POLICY FRAMEWORK  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
Para. 2 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para. 10 - So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the 
heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development  
Para. 12 - The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change 
the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-
making.  
Para. 47 - Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
Para 83-84 - sustainable development in rural locations 
Para. 135 - Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  
a)  will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the 
short term but over the lifetime of the development;  
b)  are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate 
and effective landscaping;  

Page 93



c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);  
d)  establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of 
streets, spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit;  
e)  optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and  
f)  create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  
Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change  
  
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  
Determining a Planning Application  
  
National Design Guide 2021  
Context  
Identity  
Built Form  
  
Fenland Local Plan 2014  
LP1 –  A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
LP2 –  Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents  
LP3 –  Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside  
LP12 – Rural Areas Development Policy  
LP14 – Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in  
  Fenland  
LP15 – Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in  
  Fenland  
LP16 – Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District  
LP19 – The Natural Environment  
  
Emerging Local Plan  
The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th 
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and 
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.  
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in 
accordance with Paragraph 48 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry 
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are 
policies:  
  
LP1:   Settlement Hierarchy  
LP2:   Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development  
LP5:   Health and Wellbeing  
LP7:   Design  
LP8:   Amenity Provision  
LP18:  Development in the Countryside  
LP20:  Accessibility and Transport  
LP22:  Parking Provision  
LP24:  Natural Environment  
LP25:  Biodiversity Net Gain  

Page 94



LP27:  Trees and Planting  
LP28:  Landscape  
LP32:  Flood and Water Management  
LP33:  Development on Land Affected by Contamination  
  
Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014  
DM2 –  Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes  
DM3 –  Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of 

the Area  
 
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016   

 
 
8 KEY ISSUES 

• Principle of Development  
• Character and Street Scene 
• Residential Amenity 
• Flood Risk 
• Highways Safety 
 
 

9 ASSESSMENT 
 

 Principle of Development 
9.1 The site is detached from the developed footprint of Gorefield or Leverington. 

Policy LP3 sets out the settlement hierarchy for sustainable growth. The spatial 
strategy sets out that outside the developed footprint of any of the Fenland 
market towns or villages is an elsewhere location. The site is therefore in an 
‘elsewhere’ location as defined under Local Plan Policy LP3. Whilst the 
existence of other dwellings along Fendyke Lane result in the site not being 
‘physically’ isolated, the lack of nearby services, facilities and infrastructure to 
support sustainable transport options would render the location ‘functionally’ 
isolated.   

 
9.2 Policy LP3 sets out that residential development in such locations should be 

restricted to that which is demonstrably essential to the effective operation of 
local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility 
services; and to minerals or waste development in accordance with separate 
Minerals and Water Local Development Documents (LDDs). The current 
application clearly does not accord with these prescribed uses. In addition to 
compliance with Policy LP3, Policy LP12 Part D requires the application to 
demonstrate the following:  

 
 (a) The existing functional need for the dwelling 
 (b) The number of part time and full-time worker(s) to live in the dwelling 
 (c) The length of time the activity has been established 
 (d) The financial viability of the enterprise  
 (e) The availability of other suitable accommodation on site or in the area  
 (f) How the proposed size of the dwelling relates to the viability of the 

enterprise 
 
9.3  At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 

(paragraph 11). In respect of rural areas however, Paragraph 83 elaborates: To 
promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. 

Page 95



 
9.4 Paragraph 84 of the NPPF further clarifies this point, advising against isolated 

homes in the countryside unless one or more of the following apply:  
 a) There is an essential need for a rural worker;  
 b) The development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset;  
 c) The development would re-use a redundant or disused building and enhance 

its immediate setting;  
 d) The development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential 

building; or  
 e) The design is of exceptional quality:  
 - is truly outstanding and would help raise standards of design in rural areas; 

and  
 - would significantly enhance its immediate setting and be sensitive to the 

defining characteristics of the local area.  
 
9.5 No justification has been included within the submission to illustrate that the 

dwelling is required to support a rural enterprise, does not make use of a 
heritage asset or redundant building, does not involve any subdivisions of 
existing residential uses and is not considered to be of exceptional design.  

 
 Employment site 
9.6  The lawful use of the site is for for a light industrial use, now defined as Class 

E(g) formerly class B1c of the Use Classes Order 1987 as amended. 
 
 The Use Classes Order defines the scope of uses under this class as; 
 
 (g) for— 
 (i) an office to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 
 (ii) the research and development of products or processes, or 
 (iii) any industrial process, 
 being a use, which can be carried out in any residential area without detriment 

to the amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, 
soot, ash, dust or grit. 

 
9.7 Policy LP6 sets out that the Council will seek to retain for continued use high 

quality land and premises currently or last in use for B1/B2/B8 employment 
purposes, unless it can be demonstrated through a marketing exercise that 
there is no reasonable prospect for the site being used for these purposes. 

 
9.8 As set out above, the site falls into an E(g) class category, previously defined as 

B1 and as such, the requirements of LP6 are engaged. The site and the 
supporting building appear to be sufficient to support a small light industrial 
enterprise and no marketing exercise has been undertaken to demonstrate the 
loss of employment is justified. As such, the development seeks to remove an 
employment site and replace with a single market dwelling for which policies 
LP3, LP6 and LP12 indicate is inappropriate.   

 
9.9 The NPPF also seeks to support redevelopment of previously developed land 

(brownfield) where appropriate. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF sets out that “The 
use of previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to 
existing settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.” 
Paragraph 124(c) sets out that planning decisions should “give substantial 
weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for 
homes and other identified needs, and support appropriate opportunities to 
remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land” 

Page 96



 
9.10  Whilst the site can be considered as previously developed land, it is considered 

to fall outside the settlement and is generally unsustainably linked. It is 
considered therefore that the aims of paragraphs 89 and 124 would not be met 
through this development and cannot be afforded the substantial weight that the 
NPPF refers. 

 
 Fall Back Position 
9.11 The application draws on the case of Mansell v. Tonbridge and Malling Borough 

Council 2017, which upheld a previous judgment of the High Court that the 
availability of permitted development rights can properly be taken into account 
as a fall-back position where some alternative form of development scheme is 
then proposed. As such, a fall-back development may be a material 
consideration in relation to such a proposal. The applicant asserts that the 
building on site could be converted to a dwelling under Class MA of Schedule 2, 
Part 3 of the General Permitted Development Order and as such the demolition 
and replacement of the building with a dwelling should be accepted. This 
provision relates to the change of use of buildings falling within Use Class E to a 
dwelling. 

 
9.12   However, for a fall-back position to exist there must be a reasonable chance of 

that development taking place. Class MA requires that prior to such a 
development taking place an application should be made to the LPA for a 
determination as to whether prior approval is required in relation to several 
issues. No such prior notification has ever been submitted and as such there is 
no conclusion that such a use of the existing building would be permitted 
development. For example, the scope of Class MA does not allow for the 
provision of external alterations e.g., windows and doors and it is therefore 
questionable whether any such application would succeed given the 
requirement to demonstrate adequate daylight for habitable rooms 

 
9.13   Further undermining the fall-back case is the fact that the business currently 

operating on site now appears to be a B2 use rather than an E use, as stated 
within the application form, and seemingly confirmed by the comments of 
neighbours regarding noise and the applicant’s own arguments that the use is 
now a non-conforming one. A Class E commercial use is one which would be 
expected to operate alongside residential properties with no amenity harm.  

 
9.14 As such, it is considered that the fall-back position asserted by the applicant 

does not exist and no weight can be afforded to this. Thus, the principle of the 
development is not supported and directly conflicts with the aims and 
requirements of Local Plan Policy LP3, LP6 and LP12.  

 
 Character and Street Scene 
9.15 LP16 (d) states the proposal should demonstrate that it makes a positive 

contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhances its 
local setting, responds to and improves the character of the built environment 
and does not adversely impact, either in design or scale terms, on the street 
scene, settlement pattern or the landscape character of the surrounding area. 
Policy DM3 of the Fenland SPD 2014 states that in order to satisfy the 
requirements of criteria (d) within Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, 
proposed developments should achieve a high quality of design and ensure that 
the character of the landscape, street scene and settlement patterns are 
improved or reinforced as positive features of the local identity. 

 

Page 97



9.16 The site is located to the rear of the existing converted building fronting Fendyke 
Lane known as ‘The Ryde’. The Ryde can be clearly read as a traditional barn 
style building, relatively utilitarian in form with a dual-pitched roof, a ridge height 
of 7.7m and four facets. This conversion follows the main aims of Class Q 
permitted development rights, which seeks to retain existing agricultural 
buildings for re-use as dwellings where appropriate. 

 
9.17 The existing building on site, proposed for demolition, follows the simple form of 

The Ryde, comprising a traditional twin-barn-style structure, again with dual 
pitched roof and four facets per unit. The proposed dwelling however 
significantly departs from this traditional design, incorporating two ridge heights, 
multiple roof pitches, a wing and is oriented with the main ridge running north to 
south as opposed to the current structures east-west orientation and a 
substantial ridge height of around 10m in comparison to the 7m high current 
building. The dwelling would be highly visible in the street scene, particularly 
when approaching from the north. 

 
9.18 The proposed building due to its design and scale substantially higher than 

those adjacent would therefore appear as a dominant structure occupying a 
secondary position in the street scene which would fail to respect the simple, 
modest barns and structures which prevail at the rear of existing dwellings in 
this outlier location. Opportunities to align with the rural character and scale of 
existing structures have been missed here and the result is a development 
which jars with the streetscene. It is considered therefore the proposal would fail 
to positively respond to the rural character and appearance of the area, contrary 
to design policies of the development plan (LP12, LP16) and Chapter 12 of the 
NPPF 

 
 Residential Amenity 
9.19 Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) states that development proposals 

should contribute to the Council's goal of Fenland's residents, inter alia, 
promoting high levels of residential amenity. 

 
9.20 Policy LP16 (h) states that development should provide sufficient private 

amenity space, suitable to the type and amount of development proposed; for 
dwellings other than flats, as a guide and depending on the local character of 
the area, this means a minimum of a third of the plot curtilage should be set 
aside as private amenity space. 

 
9.21 Policy LP16 (e) seeks to ensure that development does not adversely impact on 

the amenity of neighbours through significant increased noise, light pollution, 
loss of privacy or loss of light.  

 
9.22 The Design and Access Statement sets out that the reason for the proposal 

coming forward is that some amenity issues have arisen from having the 
growing commercial business located so close to residential properties and that 
there is need to relocate the commercial business elsewhere. The applicant 
asserts therefore that the removal of the business from the site would have 
amenity benefits for nearby residents in terms of noise.  

 
9.23 As set out above, the building and land benefits from a lawful Class E(g) use. 

Such a use is compatible with residential uses and therefore the fact that 
nuisance is now asserted to arise would indicate that the use has moved away 
from an E(g) use to a B2 (General Industrial) use. No planning permission exists 
for the change of use and therefore there would appear to be a breach of 

Page 98



planning control based on the applicant’s advice. This can be regularised via 
enforcement action and as such, no weight can be given to the applicant’s 
contention that to remove the use would be of benefit to existing residents. 

 
9.24 In terms of the development proposed, the dwelling would be more than 20m 

away from the nearest property to the west ‘The Ryde’. There is a small port 
hole window on the first-floor western elevation. Owing to the distance between 
the properties and the lack of large windows on the western elevation there is 
no significant harm anticipated to neighbouring amenity in terms of loss of light, 
overshadowing, noise or overlooking.  

 
9.25 The dwelling is proposed to be positioned centrally on a large plot with more 

than 1/3 of the site remaining as private garden amenity space. 
 
9.26 Therefore, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of Policies LP2 and 

LP16 (e & h) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 in that any severe amenity harm 
would be unlikely to occur through the development. 

 
 Flood Risk 
9.27 The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and Flood Zone 2. Planning policy LP14 

(B) states that all development should adopt a sequential approach to 
development on sites that are considered at risk of flooding, development on 
these sites will only be permitted following the successful completion of a 
sequential test, and where necessary an exception test. 

 
9.28 A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application. The 

FRA states that the dwelling would be constructed on land within Flood Zone 1 
and it is part of the access and garden that would be located within Flood Zone 
2. The dwelling would be 2-storey with all proposed sleeping accommodation on 
the first floor. The dwelling would have safe refuge available, if necessary, on 
the first floor.  

 
9.29 Having regard to several recent appeal decisions and previous approaches by 

this LPA, where any part of a development area falls within an area known to be 
at risk from flooding, the application of the sequential test is required. No 
sequential test has been submitted to demonstrate that the development (which 
includes the access) cannot be located in an area at lower risk of flooding, 
notwithstanding that spatially, local and national policies do not support this 
proposal in this location.  

 
9.30 Consequently, the application is in direct conflict with policy LP14 of the Fenland 

Local Plan 2014 and would place people and property at an unwarranted risk of 
flooding. 

 
 Highway Safety 
9.31 Policy LP15 states that development schemes should provide well designed, 

safe and convenient access for all. Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 
also requires development schemes to provide well designed car parking 
appropriate to the amount of development proposed, ensuring that all new 
development meets the councils defined parking standards as set out in 
Appendix A. The Fenland Local Plan 2014 Parking Standards require dwellings 
with 4 bedrooms or more to have 3 appropriately sized parking spaces available 
which may include a garage. 

 

Page 99



9.32 The site access to serve the development already exists. The proposed use is 
anticipated to see a reduction in the numbers of cars entering and exiting the 
site on a daily basis. There is no footpath to the nearby village and the main 
mode of transport would likely be by vehicle.  

 
9.33 The proposal includes a double garage accessed along a long driveway with an 

appropriately sized turning head to the front side of the dwelling. The double 
garage would be sufficient to accommodate 2 parking spaces and then 1 or 
more cars would park to the front of the garage. 

 
9.34 The proposal raises no issues in respect of highway safety in accordance with 

LP15, albeit and as set out above, due to its ‘elsewhere’ location, the site lacks 
sustainable connectivity to the nearest settlement e.g., pedestrian/ cycle links 
which weighs against the scheme. 

 
10 CONCLUSIONS 
10.1 There are fundamental issues relating to the principle of development that 

render the scheme unacceptable in planning terms. 
 
10.2 The current application seeks to demolish the aforementioned commercial 

buildings and to erect one new dwelling. As such, consideration of the proposal 
to erect a new dwelling at the site must be considered against local and national 
planning policies, LP3, LP6, LP12(D) and LP16 and Paragraph 84 of the NPPF. 
The above assessment considers that the proposal does not conform to these 
policies and thus, the principle of development of the new dwelling in the open 
countryside cannot be supported. 

 
11 RECOMMENDATION 

 
Refuse; for the following reasons: 

 
1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development in 

areas away from market towns and villages to be essential to the effective 
operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, 
transport or utility services. Policy LP12 Part D of the Fenland Local Plan 
(2014) states proposals for new dwellings in such locations will be 
supported where the application addresses the functional need for a 
dwelling in this location and that there is no availability of other suitable 
accommodation on site or in the area.  
 
By virtue that the proposal seeks to create a purely residential 
development in an elsewhere location, with no links to a rural enterprise, 
there is not a demonstrably essential or functional need for 
accommodation such as the proposed to be provided at the site. 
Furthermore, there has been no evidence submitted to suggest that the 
proposal meets any of the exceptions as set out in Paragraph 84. Thus, 
the proposal is considered contrary to the above aforementioned local 
and national planning policies and cannot be supported. 
 

2 Policies LP12 and LP16 (d) of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, DM3 of the 
Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments SPD 2014, Chapter 
12 of the NPPF and chapters C1, I1 and B2 of the National Design Guide 
2019 seek to ensure that developments make a positive contribution to 
the local distinctiveness and character of the area, responding to the local 
built environment and do not adversely impact on the streetscene, 

Page 100



settlement pattern or landscape character of the surrounding area. 
 
The proposed building due to its design and scale being substantially 
higher than those adjacent would therefore appear as a dominant 
structure occupying a secondary position in the street scene which would 
fail to respect the simple, modest barns and structures which prevail at 
the rear of existing dwellings in this outlier location. Therefore, the 
proposal would fail to positively respond to the rural character and 
appearance of the area, creating a significant detrimental impact on the 
visual amenity of the area, and contrary to the aforementioned policies. 
 

3 Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, the NPPF and the PPG, set out 
the approach to developing land in relation to flood risk, with all 
documents seeking to steer new development in the first instance 
towards available land at a lower risk of flooding. This is achieved by 
means of requiring development proposals to undertake a sequential test 
to determine if there is land available for development at a lower risk of 
flooding than the application site, and only resorting to development in 
higher flood risk areas if it can be demonstrated that there are no 
reasonably available sites at a lower risk of flooding.  

 
The application site is situated partially within flood Zone 2 (Medium Risk) 
and the application is not accompanied by a sequential test and therefore 
the proposal would fail to accord with the provisions of the NPPF and 
Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 101



Fe n
dyk

e L
an

e
Gre

en
 La

ne

High Road Gorefield Road

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 10023778

Created on: 22/05/2024

1:2,500Scale = 

F/YR24/0410/F ±
Page 102



Step: 2.43
Ridge: 9.8

Stn 1

Stn 2

Stn 5

Stn 6

Ridge: 8.0

Ridge: 10.3

Grass

Gravel

Compacted stone

Compacted stone

Compacted stone

Fe
n 

D
yk

e 
La

ne
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC
EL

EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

1m
 C

B 
fe

nc
e

2.2m CB fence

Conifer trees

Interpolated boundary as advised by client

Center of conifer trunks
Corrugated sheet/ fence

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

Pa
lis

ad
e 

ga
te

s

Water: 1.00

C
on

ife
r t

re
es

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

1.8m CB fence

1.8m CB fence

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

ELEC

1m
 C

B 
fe

nc
e

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

2.
2m

 C
B 

fe
nc

e

C
on

cr
et

e

C
oncrete

La
ur

el
 h

ed
ge

Mulch

O
il 

ta
nk

Slabs

Slabs

Slabs

Slabs

2.
2m

 C
B 

fe
nc

e

Gate

Soil

Soil

Gate

Grass

Grass

Gate

1.8m CB fence

1.8m
 C

B fence

1.8m CB fence

1.8m CB fence

Container

Pipe IL: 1.15 (300mm dia)
Water: 1.36

2.4m CB fence

2.4m CB fence

2.4m
 C

B fence

Vegetation

Skip

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

EL
EC

Young trees @ 750mm centres

O
/h

 c
ab

le
 9

.4
8 

@
 p

os
t

O
/h

 c
ab

le
 7

.9
8 

@
 p

os
t

O
/h

 c
ab

le
 9

.7
9 

@
 p

os
t

O
/h

 c
ab

le
 1

0.
20

 @
 p

os
t

Slabs

Young laurel hedge

Compacted stone

Compacted stone

grass
garden

grass
garden

grass
garden

grass
garden

gravel
parking

Site
Access

gravel
driveway

gravel
driveway

Drain

Nursery

Verdun

Rosewood House

SiloHomefield

Drain

La Mons The Lodge

TrackThorn Hall

F 
   

   
 E

   
   

  N
   

   
  D

   
   

  Y
   

   
  K

   
   

  E
   

   
   

   
   

 L
   

   
  A

   
   

  N
   

   
  E

G         O         R         F         I         E         L         D

Briarfields

grass
garden

Site
Access

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Swann Edwards Architecture,
Black Barn, Fen Road, Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job No.

Drawn by

RevisionDwg No.

Date

Sheet Size

Job Title

Drawing Title

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©

General Notes
1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.
2. The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

Checked by

Status

Proposed Dwelling
Silvergates, Fendyke Lane

Gorefield, PE13 4NF
For: Mr G Howell

Planning Drawing
Site & Location Plan

February
2024

SE-2056

PP1000

A1

G.E.

A

A.L.

PLANNING

metres

0 2 4 6 8

metres

0 25 50 75 100

Site Plan
Scale: 1:200

Location Plan
Scale: 1:2500

SITE PLAN KEY
Indicates neighbouring properties
taken from os map

Dotted lines indicate existing
features to be demolished

Proposed dwelling

Indicates proposed trees

Indicates existing buildings that
have been surveyed

Indicates proposed driveway and
parking

Indicates proposed grass
gardens

Indicates proposed access
installed in accordance with
Cambridgeshire CC Highways
specification

Revisions

A Mar
2024

Amendments following comments 
from client.

P
age 103



Lounge

Hall
Kitchen

Dining

Utility WC

Study

C
up

'd

Parking

B

AA

B

C
up

'd

Master
Bedroom

En-suite

Bathroom

En-suite

Bedroom 3

Landing

A

B

A

B

void

ac

Bedroom 5Bedroom 2

Bedroom 4

Bedroom 4

Study

Bedroom 3

Lounge

Master
Bedroom

Parking

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Swann Edwards Architecture,
Black Barn, Fen Road, Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA

t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job No.

Drawn by

RevisionDwg No.

Date

Sheet Size

Job Title

Drawing Title

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©

General Notes
1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.
2. The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

3. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

Checked by

Status

Proposed Dwelling
Silvergates, Fendyke Lane

Gorefield, PE13 4NF
For: Mr G Howell

Planning Drawing
Floor Plans, Sections

and Elevations

February
2024

SE-2056

PP1100

A1

G.E.

A

A.L.

PLANNING

Front Elevation (W)
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

Ground Floor Plan
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

Section B-B
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

metres

0 1 2 3 4

First Floor Plan
Scale: 1:100

Side Elevation (S)
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

Rear Elevation (E)
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

Side Elevation (N)
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

Section A-A
Scale: 1:100 metres

0 1 2 3 4

MATERIAL KEY

Hatch indicates brickwork

Hatch indicates roof tiles

Indicates casement windows
and doors with brick head
detail as shown on elevations

Hatch indicates horizontal
cladding

Indicates velux rooflights

Revisions

A Mar
2024

Amendments following comments 
from client.

P
age 104


	Agenda
	4 F/YR23/0772/F<br/>The Nags Head Public House, 402 Eastrea Road, Eastrea<br/>Change of use of public house to convenience store (class E(a)) involving the installation of a shop front, a new crossover to the front serving the improved car park with new screening fence to the front and demolition of existing outbuilding and porch (part retrospective)
	23 0772 Draft Committee report - Final
	FDC Location Plan
	EXISTING_SITE_PLAN-765833
	PROPOSED_SHOP_FRONT
	PROPOSED_FRONT_ELEVATION
	PROPOSED_EAST_ELEVATION-848131
	PROPOSED_PARKING_LAYOUT

	5 F/YR23/0819/F<br/>Land East Of 22 Eastwood Industrial Estate, Eastwood End, Wimblington<br/>Erect a storage building for the storage of fertilisers and provision of hardstanding to serve the building (Class B8)
	23 0819 FINAL
	FDC SLP 23 0819
	EXISTING_SITE_PLAN-807011
	PROPOSED_SITE_PLAN-807010
	PROPOSED_ELEVATIONS-769490
	PROPOSED_FLOOR_PLAN-769491

	6 F/YR24/0161/F<br/>Land South Of 4 Hole In The Wall Cottages, Padgetts Road, Christchurch<br/>Erect 1 x dwelling (2-storey 4-bed) in association with existing farm, and formation of an access
	F-YR24-0161-F Committee Report TO MS
	FDC Location Plan
	Proposed Site Plan
	Proposed GF Plan
	Proposed FF Plan
	Front and Rear Elevs
	Side Elevs

	7 F/YR24/0254/PIP<br/>Brownlows Yard, 400 Creek Road, March<br/>Permission in principle to erect up to 9 x dwellings
	Committee Report  24-0254 FINAL
	FDC Location Plan F-YR24-0254-PIP
	Location Plan F-YR24-0254-PIP

	8 F/YR24/0333/F<br/>Land North East Of Horseway Farm Accessed From, Byall Fen Drove, Manea<br/>Erect 1 dwelling (2-storey 3-bed) and formation of a new access
	YR24-0333-F committee report FINAL
	832909-FDC Location Plan-1-2500
	827908-Drawing-PROPOSED SITE PLAN, ELEVATIONS, FLOOR PLAN AND STREET SCENE

	9 F/YR24/0410/F<br/>Land East Of Stores At The Lodge, Fendyke Lane, Leverington<br/>Erect a dwelling (2-storey 5-bed) involving the demolition of existing commercial buildings
	Draft Report
	839308-FDC Location Plan-
	822413-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN, PROPOSED SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2056-PP1000A


	822414-Drawing-PROPOSED ELEVATIONS, FLOOR PLANS AND SECTION
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2056-PP1100A




